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About OX2
OX2 develops, builds and manages renewable power
generation. OX2 has taken a leading position in large-scale
onshore wind power over the past 15 years, having
generated more than 2 GW of wind power in the Nordic
region. By constantly increasing access to renewable
energy, OX2 is promoting the transition towards a more
sustainable future. OX2 has operations in Sweden,
Norway, Finland, Poland, Lithuania, France and Germany.
Its head office is located in Stockholm, Sweden. Sales
revenue in 2018 amounted to SEK 4,136 million.

Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

Raskiftet wind farm (112 MW)
in Norway was built in 2018.
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The year in brief
– record high activity
in the Nordic region
2018 was characterised by growth and high a
 ctivity
in all parts of OX2. The project portfolio was
strengthened and expansion continued in Europe.
New record figures were recorded in sales and
construction projects in the Nordic region.

500 MW*

secured sale of wind
power projects
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950 MW*

wind power under
construction

Significant events
• The largest subsidy-free wind power project in
the Nordic countries to date of just over 107 MW was
sold to IKEA Finland.
• A purchase agreement was signed with Marguerite
for Brännliden wind farm (approx. 42 MW) in Sweden.
• The sale of the Åndberg wind farm (approx. 280 MW)
in Sweden was secured before the end of the year.

Lehtirova wind farm (148 MW) in Sweden
was handed over to Aquila Capital in 2018.
Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

340 MW*
of wind power transferred to purchasers

Financial result – the strongest year to date

• The Lehtirova (148 MW) and Högkölen (65 MW) wind
farms in Sweden were handed over as turnkey
projects to purchaser Aquila Capital.
• Construction of the 112 MW Raskiftet wind farm in
Norway was completed and it was handed over to
the purchasers Stadtwerke München, Eidsiva and
Gudbrandsdal Energi.
• A decision was made to change the name OX2 Wind
to OX2. The former OX2 Group (OX2 Group AB) has
changed its name to Peas Industries. Both name
changes were registered after the end of the year.

Net sales
MSEK

Net sales
4,136 (2,153) SEK million

Operating profit
363 (240) SEK million

Earnings after
financial items
384 (251) SEK million

4,136 SEK
million
363 SEK
million
384 SEK
million
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Variations between different years depend on the rate at which wind power
projects are completed and handed over to the customer.
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The CEO's view:
“2018 was a year
when activity levels
		broke new
records in all parts
of the company”
Paul Stormoen,
CEO of OX2

Photo: Christian Gustavsson
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2018 was a fun and rewarding year
at OX2. I would like to start by
thanking all our employees, partners, customers and suppliers for
their hard work and commitment.
This annual report summarises a
large part of all the fantastic
achievements that we shared in
2018 and I hope reading it will bring
you joy.
By the time you read it, we will
have changed our name from OX2
Wind AB to OX2 AB. This is the first
printed annual report focusing
solely on our business, which deals
with the development, financing,
construction and operational
services for large-scale power
plants, even though we are already
in our 15th year of operation.
2018 was a year when the
activity level broke new records in
all parts of the company.
We have achieved great success
in the further strengthening of our
portfolio in Sweden and Finland and
we have begun developing projects
in Germany. In Poland in 2018, we
won the public auction with one
project and were consequently
awarded a tariff which makes the
project economically attractive to
achieve.
The project portfolio is growing
because we have a strong package
to offer developers, even when new
project planning has gathered
pace. Well-functioning collaborations with landowners, for example,
are made possible by the fact that
we are local in our markets and
have the necessary resources.
In Finland, we were able to start
construction on the Nordic region's
largest subsidy-free wind power
project, which is a historic step for

“Our strong results
mean that we can
continue investing
in organisation,
products and
business”
Paul Stormoen,
CEO of OX2

Construction of Högkölen wind farm (65 MW) in Sweden. Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

both OX2 and the industry. Government subsidies have been necessary to encourage a new industry
around wind power, but they have
now played their part. The industry
needs to focus on other challenges
and opportunities.
Deep relationships on both the
investor and supplier side are
becoming increasingly important.
The business models around the
projects require continued optimisation in order to be able to supply
electricity at the lowest possible
price. In the future, projects must
be able to deliver a good and stable
return over a long period, as well as
remaining environmentally and
socially sustainable.
OX2 continues to be a company
demonstrating strong growth while
also managing to deliver in accordance with the high expectations of
our customers and suppliers. In
2018, we completed construction
on and handed over record
volumes of approximately 340 MW,
while starting construction on a
further 750 MW. I am proud that we
have been able to manage so many
projects in parallel, on time and
budget and without any serious

incidents. This would not have been
possible without an organisation
made up of dedicated employees
who always strive for the highest
possible quality and a safe working
environment.
2018 was a year with a very
strong financial result. This gives us
the opportunity to continue investing in the development of the organisation, our products and business.
The potential for OX2's continued
growth in the market is enormous.
We are in the midst of an accelerating global transition in the energy
systems where renewable is replacing fossil. This is absolutely necessary based on the threat of ongoing
climate change, but also because
forms of renewable energy, with
wind power in the front line, can be
expanded faster and more cheaply
than all other forms of electricity
production.
I look forward to our continued
shared journey towards a 100%
sustainable society!

Paul Stormoen, CEO of OX2.
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OX2 – Europe’s leading
developer within largescale onshore wind
power
OX2 has accepted one of the greatest challenges of our time.
By developing, building and managing renewable power
generation, the company is promoting the transition towards
a more sustainable future. 2018 was an important year for
OX2 with strong growth and a more powerful market position.
In the course of this journey, the
company has built up substantial
experience in the industry and a
network of partners, along with an
in-depth knowledge of financing
from institutional and industrial
capital. These factors, together with
an ability to be at the cutting edge
with new technological and financial solutions, have been vital to the
company’s success in recent
years.

Within large-scale onshore wind
power, OX2 has, over the years,
generated more than 2 GW wind
power and today has a strong
project portfolio, establishing OX2
as one of the leading stakeholders
in renewable power generation in
Europe. The investment in wind
power goes back 14 years to the
time when OX2 began building up
cutting-edge expertise within the
entire value chain of wind power –
from initial project development,
through sales and construction, to
technical and commercial
management.

OX2, generation of wind power 2006–2019, cumulative nameplate capacity
MW aggregated

2,000

1,500

1,000

500

0
–06

06

–07

–08

–09

–10

–11

OX2 Annual Report 2018

–12

–13

–14

–15

–16

-17

-18 Q1 2019

OX2's customers are for the most
part financial investors, but also
energy companies and other
industries. Many customers, such
as IKEA, Allianz, Google and Aquila
Capital, provide repeat business
and most customers continue to
work with OX2 even during the
operational phase. Confidence and
satisfied customers along with
constant adaptation to the prevailing market conditions are a guarantee of continued growth.

Lehtirova wind farm (148 MW) in Sweden. Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

Project planning of wind power /
acquisition of project rights
OX2 has a strong project portfolio
that is developed continuously in
accordance with the market's
needs and conditions. The wind
power projects are of varying size,
spread geographically across
Sweden, Norway, Finland, Poland,
Germany and France. The ambition
in every country in which OX2 operates is to realise the projects with
the greatest potential based on low
production costs and stable returns
at the same time as meeting high
sustainability targets. Good wind
conditions, well-adapted infrastructure and local support for the
project are examples of important
factors in achieving this.
Strengthened project portfolio
In 2018, OX2 strengthened its portfolio with a large volume of projects
in the late phase of development.
This was made possible primarily
through the acquisition of project
rights and collaborations with
owners and developers of wind
power permits. In the spring of
2018, for example, an agreement
was signed with Rabbalshede Kraft
regarding the purchase of the rights
for Åndberg wind farm (after
upgrading approx. 280 MW). Subsequently, OX2 completed project
development, the signing of land
contracts and structural engineering surveys. The financing of the

project was secured before the end
of the year.
Sale and construction of wind power
plants
OX2 builds wind farms as EPC
contracts and offers the market
opportunities to invest in turnkey
projects. The investors come
primarily from the financial sector,
but OX2 also delivers projects and
services to power companies and
other industries. In connection with
the financing of individual projects,
OX2 can also assist the investor in
signing electricity price agreements
with major electricity consumers in
order to hedge revenues in the long
term.
The financial investors see
ownership of wind power as a longterm and sustainable investment
with stable cash flows and good
returns. For power companies,
investments in wind power are an
opportunity to acquire cost-effective and sustainable generation
which can meet their customers'
increased demand for environmentally friendly electricity.
950 MW under construction
During 2018, construction was
under way at a total of 13 wind
farms, corresponding to approximately 950 MW in Sweden, Norway
and Finland. Three major wind
farms totalling approximately 340
MW were completed and handed

over to the purchasers on schedule. The sale and financing of eight
wind farms for 500 MW were
secured during the year.
Commercial and technical
management of wind power plants
Through its sister company OX2
TCM, OX2 offers a complete range
of operational and management
services, including production
analysis, operational optimisation,
monitoring, administration, finance
and various specialist assignments.
These services ensure that owners
are able to enjoy maximum profitability and problem-free ownership.
With the Nordic Region’s largest
management portfolio, along with
considerable experience of managing turbines of different sizes and
ages, as well as working closely
with different turbine suppliers, OX2
TCM is able to guarantee a high level
of availability, few stoppages and,
consequently, excellent production.
Production of approx. 2.4 TWh
At the end of the period, OX2 TCM’s
technical and commercial management operations comprised 241
operational wind turbines (718 MW)
in 21 wind farms, equivalent to
production of approximately
2.4 TWh. OX2 TCM had secured
contracts for an additional approximately 850 MW at year-end, which
equates to agreements for more
than 1.5 GW wind power.
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Casting of wind power foundations at Valhalla project (366 MW) in Sweden. Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

2018 – some of the year’s most
important events
Brännliden wind farm sold
to Marguerite
In September, OX2 and European
fund manager Marguerite signed an
agreement on the Brännliden wind
farm (42 MW, ten wind turbines) in
Skellefteå municipality, Sweden.
OX2 has developed the project and
is delivering the plant as an EPC
contract. It is expected to be
completed and commissioned at
the turn of the year 2019/2020.

950 MW*
wind power in total
under construction
* Figure rounded up
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Largest subsidy-free wind power
project in the Nordic region sold to
IKEA
In October, OX2 signed an agreement with IKEA Finland for four
wind farms (107.4 MW) and a total
of 25 wind turbines in Finland. OX2
will be the main contractor during
the construction period . The
project comprises the Långmossa
and Ribäcken wind farms in Malax,
Ostrobothnia and Ponsivuori wind
farm in Kurikka in South Ostrobothnia and Verhonkulma wind farm in
St. Mårtens in Southwest Finland.
All farms are scheduled to be operational at the beginning of 2020.

Lehtirova and Högkölen wind farms
handed over to Aquila
In December, Lehtirova wind farm
(148 MW, 41 wind turbines) and
Högkölen wind farm (65 MW, 18
wind turbines) were handed over to
purchaser Aquila Capital on schedule. Both farms have been developed in house, with construction
beginning in 2016 as EPC contracts.
Lehtirova wind farm is located in
Gällivare and Pajala municipalities
and Högkölen wind farm is located
in Ljusdal municipality, Sweden. OX2
will continue to be responsible for
the technical and commercial
management of the wind farms.
A ten-year power purchase agreement (PPA) has been signed with
Google for the purchase of electri
city from Lehtirova wind farm.
Raskiftet handed over to Stadtwerke
München, Eidsiva and Gudbrandsdal
Energi
In December, Raskiftet wind farm
(112 MW, 31 wind turbines) was also
handed over to Stadtwerke
München, Eidsiva Energi and
Gudbrandsdal Energi. The farm
which OX2 built as an EPC contract
is located in Trysil and Åmot munici
palities, Norway. It has been developed in collaboration between OX2
and the local developer Austri Vind.

Map of OX2's market presence
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Wind farm projects under construction and management in 2018
Sweden
Under construction: 

Norway
approx. 680 MW

Operation and management: 

571 MW

Finland
Under construction: 

Under construction: 

112 MW

Lithuania
Operation and management: 

45 MW

approx. 150 MW

Operation and management: 

102 MW

The map and the description of projects also show the sister company OX2 TCM's operations.
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Project planning and
construction of Raskiftet
wind farm in Norway
In December 2018, OX2 handed over Raskiftet
wind farm (112 MW) to its purchasers
Stadtwerke München, Eidsiva Energi and
Gudbrandsdal Energi on schedule. The project
is the first to be built in inland Norway.

Facts about the project:
• 31 Vestas V126 3.6 MW wind turbines,
117 m hub height
• Expected electricity production per year:
Approx. 370 GWh
• Purchasers: A joint venture between
Stadtwerke München GmbH (60%),
Gudbrandsdal Energi Fornybar AS (20%),
Eidsiva Vannkraft AS (20%)
• EPC supplier: OX2

OX2's construction project manager, Johan Höök, with representatives of the purchasers at Raskiftet wind farm.
Photo: Nils Ormvold, Gudbrandsdal Energi
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Raskiftet wind farm (112 MW) in Norway. Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

Raskiftet wind farm, with a total of
31 wind turbines, is located on the
western side of Osensjön lake in
Trysil and Åmot municipalities. The
area is a 15-km long ridge with
mountain peaks and escarpments
as well as lowland areas of forest
and wetlands.
“The wetlands in particular were a
challenge when we were laying out
the site, as they have to be avoided
for both construction and environmental reasons. Technically, it is a
large area with varying terrain and
very different conditions existing
between the different turbine positions. This meant that the choice of
turbine and how the turbines would
be placed, both individually and in
relation to each other, was of
extreme importance. We devoted
much time to producing a detailed
design based on factors such as
wind conditions, turbulence, ground
conditions and the suitable placement of crane sites and roads,”
says Ulf Tollaksen, the responsible
project engineer at OX2.

When OX2's engineering team optimises the turbine configuration at a
wind farm, it starts from the
combined experience of many
projects and the latest research
findings. It is also able to rely on the
best software available on the
market, but it is still important to
work in the field.
“It was especially important to
spend a great deal of time in the
field with this project, to consider
all possible layouts and options in
consultation with OX2's construction department and the suppliers.
The result is a facility that meets
high demands for safety, output
and availability with high production and reasonable costs,”
comments Ulf.

Construction of Raskiftet wind farm
began in the autumn of 2016 with
logging and road works. Several
information meetings also took
place.
“Raskiftet is the first wind power
project to be built in inland Norway.
The need for information and
education has therefore been
greater than usual and I have maintained extra close contact with
local businesses, landowners and
residents,” reports Johan Höök,
construction project manager at
OX2.
Contact with the purchasers has
also been close, something which
is becoming increasingly common
in construction projects.
“We have worked closely with
the consultants who, on behalf of
the purchasers, reviewed and
followed up every detail of the
project and the daily work at the
site,” explains Johan.

The roads, internal electricity grid
and bases for the wind turbines at
the farm were completed in 2017.
The 17-km long 132 kV overhead
power line and the transformer
station were completed in June
2018. During the summer, the
Vestas wind turbines arrived by
boat at Uddevalla harbour in
Sweden. From there, they were
transported on trucks 500 km to
the construction site. The farm was
commissioned in the autumn and
handed over to the purchasers in
December.
“It is fantastic. It has been a very
rewarding project and I am taking
many lessons away with me. What
I find most satisfying is how well
the facility has been adapted to the
external conditions and built with
great consideration given to
nature,” concludes Johan.
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OX2’s work process for establishing
and financing wind power
OX2 is involved in all stages of the wind power value chain; from project
development or the acquisition of project rights, through financing, sale
and construction, to technical and commercial management. Management is undertaken by its sister company OX2 TCM.

Project development
During the initial screening phase, a
suitable area for establishing a wind
power plant is identified, with regard
to wind resources, electricity grid,
land ownership and the conditions
for obtaining permits. This phase
also includes an assessment of
potential investment based on
production income as well as
construction and operating costs.
The actual project development
phase starts with the signing of a
land lease. Then a test of the suitability of the wind power plant begins
in accordance with applicable legislation. This takes the form of
dialogue with relevant business
owners such as government authorities, associations, grid companies
and local residents. The dialogue
ends with an environmental impact
assessment. Wind measurements
begin in parallel, using masts and
lidar/sodar systems. Production
calculations are carried out and the
electricity grid is designed. The farm
layout/turbine choice is optimised to
achieve the lowest possible production costs.
The project development phase
comprises four main activities:
• Land leases and local dialogue
• Wind measurements and
production calculations
• Permit process
• Secure grid connections
12
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Acquisition
In addition to its own project development, OX2 assesses and
purchases project rights from other
developers and is also involved in
collaboration on the development
of projects.

OX2 has a dedicated team that
constantly works with the market
for different types of electricity
price agreements with the aim of
being at the forefront of the best
solutions based on each individual
project and investor.

Sales and financing
Most wind farms that OX2 realises
have a single purchaser, but several
investors may join together to form
a joint venture. OX2 then structures
the venture on the basis of the
financing preferences of the investors, e.g. regarding share of equity
and the need for bank financing.

Procurement and construction
OX2 uses traditional tendering
processes aimed at established
manufacturers to procure, for
example, wind turbines, infrastructure and foundations for its
projects. The process is carried out
in accordance with international
requirements and standards. OX2
then manages construction of the
wind power plant, serving as main
contractor for the purchaser. The
construction period is normally 1–2
years. Depending on the financing
solution, the purchaser or OX2 is
responsible for financing during the
construction period.

Electricity sales, price hedging and
PPA solutions
It has become more common for
investors to demand hedging of the
revenues from the plant via
so-called PPAs (Power Purchase
Agreements), which are signed with
a major electricity consumer. Alternatively, revenues can be secured
via state-regulated replacement
models/systems such as feed-in
tariffs or CFDs (contracts for difference).

Managing wind power plants
OX2 TCM handles all the issues
which are important to wind power
owners, such as operational monitoring, optimisation of production,
inspections, contract management,
finance and administration. The aim
is to maximise profitability and to
ensure smooth and efficient
ownership.

Interview with Kari Tikkanen,
PPA and offtake manager at OX2
What does your work involve as a
PPA and offtake manager?
“My job is to offer financiers who
invest in a wind power plant the
opportunity to hedge their revenues by selling the electricity to
electricity suppliers or large electricity consumers through long
electricity contracts (so-called
PPA:s), often 10–15 years from the
commissioning of the project.”
What is it that primarily drives the
market for PPA solutions?
“Historically, political support has
been required to develop wind
power as costs have been higher
than the possible revenues. At
present, the technology for largescale wind power in the Nordic
countries has reached a production
cost level that is in line with the
electricity price market, which
increases demand for PPA
solutions.”

What are the most common PPA
solutions?
“Most large electricity consumers
are interested in a PPA with an
agreed delivery volume, because
they have stable and predictable
electricity consumption and are not
experts in managing the variable
production. Volatility is usually
handled most effectively by those
who own the plant as they are
familiar with wind power as production technology. However, there are
also electricity consumers and
operators who see the management of the variable production as
a focus area and are happy to
receive the electricity according to
its actual production profile
because greater risk allows for a
lower price.”
What does OX2 want to offer the
market for electricity price hedges
in the future?
“We want to increase understanding of the risks and how we can
offset them in our projects. We are
also working continuously to reduce
transaction costs by standardising
terminology and agreement
structures.”
What are the most difficult and most
enjoyable parts of your job?
“The most enjoyable part of my job
is developing solutions adapted to
the customer's needs. The most
difficult part is finding the time to
talk to all those who are interested
and to indicate the opportunities
that exist today.

“The production cost
for wind power is
now in line with the
electricity price, which
increases the demand
for PPA solutions”
Kari Tikkanen,
PPA and offtake manager at OX2

Photo: Christian Gustavsson
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Market – The transition
to renewable energy is
accelerating
The winds of change are blowing. More and more
initiatives are being introduced to counteract the
negative effects of climate change. 2018 ended with
the climate change conference in Poland, where a
regulatory framework for the implementation of the
Paris Agreement was established. The energy sector
has embarked on comprehensive restructuring which
will accelerate over the next decade.
Glötesvålen wind farm
(90 MW) in Sweden.

Photo: Patrick Miller.
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In October 2018, in a new report,
the UN Panel on Climate Change
noted that global warming can still
be limited to 1.5 degrees, but this
will require us to take drastic measures immediately (IPCC 2018). The
last four years are the hottest
measured to date. The global
average temperature has increased
by approximately 1 degree since
pre-industrial times at the end of
the 19th century. This is a clear sign
of an ongoing climate change
caused by greenhouse gases
according to the World Meteoro
logical Organization WMO.1
Access to renewable energy is a
prerequisite for reducing carbon
dioxide emissions and meeting the
challenges facing the world. The
proportion of fossil energy still
accounts for about 80 percent of
the total energy supply. By taking
hard-hitting action today, the devel-

opment towards a sustainable
energy system based on renewable
sources such as wind, water and
sun can be accelerated.2
China and USA largest players in
renewables
On a global scale, China remained
the largest market for investments
in renewable energy in 2018,
although the rate of investment fell
sharply by as much as 32 percent
compared to the record year 2017.
The US was the second largest
market for renewables with an
increase of 12 percent on 2017.
In Europe, where Germany is the
largest market, investments in
renewable energy took a solid
stride forwards in 2018 with an
increase of 27 percent, due in part
to the financing of five large
offshore wind farms.3

Subsidy-free wind and solar power
becoming increasingly common
In more and more places, renew
able energy is profitable even without support, and in 2018 grid parity
was achieved when wind power
plants began to be built without
subsidies worldwide. In Finland,
investments in subsidy-free wind
power with a total capacity of 340
MW were announced in 2018. China
has also announced that it will
launch subsidy-free pilot projects in
both wind and solar power in the
near future.4
This is of great significance to
the wind and solar power industry
which, thanks to technological
advances, it is not only possible to
compete with, but also to
outcompete, fossil energy sources
without government support.
Non-subsidised solar and wind
power is now the cheapest
source of new bulk power and the
obvious choice of energy production in all major economies except
Japan, according to a new report
from Bloomberg NEF.5

Global energy consumption 1990–2040
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Coal power being phased out
Over the last ten years, the phasing
out of coal-fired power plants has
increased substantially on a global
scale, while plans for new coal-fired
power plants are being scrapped at
a high rate. Tough competition from
cheap gas and renewable energy
sources is driving the shutdown of
coal power and is predicted to
continue doing so. In the USA, 20
coal-fired power plants totalling 16
GW have been shut down or slated
for closure in 2018. Recent major
shutdowns have contributed to the
fact that the coal power capacity in
the USA has fallen by one third
since 2010.6
We are also seeing the same
trend in Europe, where coal power
production fell by 6 percent in 2018,
a decrease of 42 TWh from 2017.
Coal production in Europe has fallen
by 30 percent since 2012.
Three-quarters of the coal power
produced in the EU today is in
countries which are planning to
phase out coal power. The exception is Poland, which accounts for
one quarter of the coal power
production in the EU. Poland has
not reduced its coal power capacity since 2012 and also began to
build a new 1GW coal power plant in

Valhalla Project (366 MW) Sweden.
Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

2018. However, the Polish Ministry of
Energy has presented a proposal
on the reduction of coal power
production (see further on page 22).
The UK can be seen as a pioneer
in the phasing out of coal power
and the construction of wind
power. Since 2013, the production
of coal power has reduced by 87
percent while wind power has
doubled. In Germany, a milestone
was reached in 2018 when, for the
first time, renewable energy
sources overtook coal in the generation of electricity (see further on
page 22).7, 8, 9
Good market prospects for wind
and solar power in Europe
In 2018, approximately 12 GW of
new wind power capacity was
installed in Europe. This is a reduction of more than 30 percent
compared with the record year of
2017. The rate of installation in 2018
was the lowest since 2011 in
Europe, but in terms of investment
decisions, 2018 was a record year
with financing for capacity of
around 17 GW, an increase of 45
percent on 2017.
Forecasts from Wind Europe
show that growth will increase in
the future so that all Member States

Power generation from renewables
compared with coal in the EU

Net, new electricity capacity in the EU 2000–2018

TWh

GW

1,000

200

800

150

600

100

400

50

200

0

6)
7)
8)
9)

16

2015

Biom ass
Solar
Wind

Bloomberg NEF
Dagens Nyheter
Treehugger
Agora Energiewende

OX2 Annual Report 2018

2016

2017

Coal

2018

Source: WindEurope.

Co
al
Fu
el
oi
l

2014

So
la
M
r
is
ce CSP
lla
ne
Nu
ou
cl
s
ea
rp
ow
er

Source: Agora Energiewende &
Sandbag, The European Power
Sector in 2018.

2013

W
as
te

2012

Ga
s
Bi
om
as
s
la H
rg y
e- dr
sc o
al –
e

2011

So
la
rP
V

2010

W
in
d

–50

0

will be able to achieve their EU
goals. An annual average market for
installed capacity of 16.5 GW is
expected in Europe over the next
five years, with offshore wind
power accounting for about 20
percent. The figures include installations from both new projects,
so-called green field, and reinvestments in existing wind farms,
so-called repowering.
2019 is expected to be a new
record year for both onshore and
offshore wind power with almost
20 GW new installed capacity. The
total installed wind power capacity
in Europe is now approximately 190
GW (179 GW within EU28), of which
10 percent is offshore. Wind power
is today the second largest energy
source in the EU in terms of capacity and is expected to overtake
natural gas in 2019, thus becoming
the largest energy source in the EU
in terms of installed capacity.10
The installed capacity for solar
power in the EU increased by 8 GW
in 2018, which is 36 percent more
than in 2017. This growth is greater
than expected and can partly be
attributed to the fact that the EU
removed tariffs on modules and
solar panels from Asia, which had

previously kept the price of solar
power at an artificially high level.
Solar power is now the cheapest
energy source in many European
countries.11
In a market outlook for the years
2018–2022 carried out by SolarPower Europe, a central scenario is
highlighted where the market is
expected to grow steadily to a total
installed capacity of 206 GW in
2022, compared with today's 115
GW. Germany is expected to lead
the expansion of new solar capacity in Europe, followed by France
and Turkey.12
Greater ambitions within the EU
In 2018, the EU succeeded in raising
its ambitions for the 2030 goals so
that they are in line with the climate
goals of the Paris Agreement. There
is now an agreement on a target of
32 percent renewable energy, which
is a significant leap forward from
the 27 percent that was the previous goal. In addition, energy efficiency should increase by 32.5
percent by 2030, compared with
1990. The revised Renewables
Directive, RED II, has also introduced rules aimed at promoting
and protecting investments. For

example, the permit process will be
simplified for both new projects and
reinvestment in existing wind farms
(repowering).13, 14
However, restrictions on steel
imports, something that the European Commission has introduced
as a response to the actions taken
by Donald Trump in March 2018, will
affect the EU's 2030 goals. The
proposal means that a 25% tariff is
applied to steel imports when a
predefined volume is achieved. The
problem is that the volume is very
conservative and does not correspond to the steel volume that will
be required by the wind power
industry, meaning that there would
be considerably increased costs for
producing wind turbines.
At the same time, it would hurt
European turbine manufacturers,
which compete with Chinese
manufacturers who can buy
domestic steel at much lower
prices. Therefore, there are hopes
in the wind power industry that the
Member States and the European
Commission should agree on a
higher annual increase in steel
imports than has been proposed
so far.15

Wind power in EU 2005–2018, cumulative
nameplate capacity
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Strengthening emissions trading
The emission allowances system
has not worked as it was intended
because of a large surplus of
emission allowances and thus low
prices. A more stable and higher
price picture is needed to stimulate
the development of new technology and to increase investment in
climate-smart solutions. In order to
raise the price of allowances, a
mechanism, so-called reserve, has
been established that gathers the
surplus allowances and automatically annuls them. This measure will
reduce the number of allowances
by 24 percent each year until 2023,
which will lead to sharp price
increases for emission allowances.
In 2018, the price increased three
to four times, probably as a result
of the strengthening of emissions
trading.18
The rising prices of emission
allowances and stricter air quality
standards combined with the fact
that both wind and solar power are
continuing to become cheaper will
accelerate the phasing out of coal
power.

Cable laying for Valhalla Project (366 MW) Sweden. Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

National energy and climate plans
At the end of 2018, new rules for
the EU electricity market were
agreed. This concludes the negotiations on the so-called Winter
Energy Package, "Clean energy for
all Europeans", which contains
legislative proposals for energy efficiency, renewable energy, electricity market design and security of
supply.16
The National Energy and Climate
Plans (NECP) provide the framework for Member States to outline
their climate and energy objectives
as well as policies and measures
from 2021 to 2030. The development of these plans is a legal
requirement that follows the EU’s
administrative regulation introduced
16) European Union
17) WindEurope
18) Swedish Environmental Protection Agency
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in December 2018. Member States
were asked to deliver a draft of
their 2030 plans as of 31 December
2018, before presenting complete,
clear plans a year later. These plans
contain the countries' planning and
reporting on five policy areas: The
phasing out of coal power, energy
efficiency, energy security, their
internal energy market, as well as
research and development, innovation and competitiveness. The NECP
will give investors and the European
Commission a coherent picture of
how the European Union will meet
its climate and energy goals by
2030, with particular emphasis on
the collective renewable energy
target of 32% of the energy mix.17

Repowering enables more capacity
During 2018, 421 MW of wind power
was dismantled in Europe, most of
which was in Germany (249 MW),
because the wind farms had
reached their full operational life.
461 MW capacity was reinvested
during the year.
What drives the decision to reinvest in a wind farm is mainly the
performance of the turbines and
the length of the support system in
the current market. The operational
lifetime of a wind farm is 25–30
years. In Germany, about 35
percent of the installed wind fleet,
equivalent to 15 GW, is more than
15 years old. In Denmark, the same
applies to 51 percent of the wind
fleet, corresponding to 2.7 GW. This
means that during the next decade,
a large proportion of wind farms will
reach the end of their operational
life and need to be renewed. This
requires a strong market that can
manage not only to renew the
existing wind fleet, but also to

Construction of Högkölen wind farm (65 MW) in Sweden. Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

ensure the long-term growth of
renewable energy.
The previously installed turbines
have a nameplate capacity of a few
hundred kW and a hub height of
about 60 m. If these were to be
replaced by today's much more
powerful turbines, then it would be
possible to generate considerably
much more energy at the same
site. More than 55 percent of all
wind turbines ordered in Europe
during the second quarter of 2018
were 4 MW or greater. Within
offshore wind power, the orders are
for even more powerful turbines in
the range of 8–9.5 MW and within a
few years, offshore turbines with a
capacity of more than 10 MW will be
on the market.

19) WindEurope
20) European Union
21) Bloomberg NEF

However, replacing the older
turbines with new turbines requires
simplified permit processes. The
environmental permits are much
more stringent today than they
were 20–30 years ago and new
regulations limit the distance
between turbines and buildings, for
instance.19
Renewable electricity key to the
transport sector
Emissions reductions in the transport sector do not occur quickly
enough. At the end of 2018, the EU
Parliament and the Member States
agreed to reduce emissions from
new cars by 37.5 percent by 2030
but, according to the environmental
movement, this will not be sufficient to achieve the EU's climate
goal of reducing emissions by 60
percent by 2030, compared with
the 1990 level.20, 21

Sales of electric cars in Europe
increased by more than 40 percent
in the first half of 2018, but even
though the percentage rise in sales
is rapid, this figure still only represents a fraction of the total car
sales in Europe.22, 23
However, falling battery costs will
benefit the sale of rechargeable
cars in the future. Bloomberg NEF
expects the cost of lithium-ion
battery charging systems to fall by
about 50 percent between 2018
and 2030.
A greater market share for electric vehicles places demands on
the energy mix. It is extremely
important that the electricity is
produced from clean energy
sources.24

22) Bloomberg NEF
23) Cleantechnica
24) Bloomberg NEF
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OX2's wind power markets
Sweden – high rate of expansion
In 2018, hydropower and nuclear
power were responsible for around
80 percent of Swedish electricity
generation, which totalled 158 TWh.
Wind power generation accounted
for around 11 percent (17 TWh),
which is slightly lower than the year
before despite a capacity increase.
This lower figure is partly due to
relatively weak winds during the
year.
In 2018, just over 700 MW of new
wind power was installed, a marked
increase compared with 2017
(approx. 220 MW) and 2016
(approx. 500 MW). This increase is
the result of the record-high
number of investment decisions for
approximately 2,000 MW of new
wind power that were taken in 2017,
and this effect will continue into
2019. A summary from Svensk
Vindenergi (March 2019) shows
that, since the cross-party political
energy agreement in June 2016,
investment decisions have been
made in wind power amounting to
almost SEK 62 billion. At the same
time, two of Sweden's eight nuclear
reactors (Ringhals 1 and 2) will
close in 2019 and 2020 respectively.
Thus, capacity corresponding to
7 TWh will be phased out from the
Swedish electricity system.25
The basic prerequisites for wind
power in Sweden are favourable in

comparison with most EU countries. Sweden has good wind conditions, low population density, good
infrastructure in terms of roads and
electricity grid as well as good
access to balancing power from
hydropower. Svensk Vindenergi has
developed a route map for how
wind power can eventually replace
the nuclear power which is being
phased out and contribute to the
political goal of a 100% renewable
energy system by 2040. Wind
power has the potential to increase
to approximately 70 TWh/year and
in combination with hydropower
can form the basis of a renewable
electricity system by 2040.
However, achieving this will require,
for example, the modernisation of
the electricity grid and its adaptation to a higher proportion of
renewable electricity generation,
the speeding up and simplification
of permit processes, and making
them more legally certain.26
There is broad political and popular support for the renewable transition. A new government took
power in Sweden on 21 January
2019, and in the government
programme it states that Sweden
will become the world's first fossilfree welfare state and that the
climate transition should permeate
the policy. All relevant legislation
must be reviewed, the climate

Weighted total production costs for onshore wind power in Europe
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targets must be achieved and the
Energy Agreement implemented.
There is an insight that the transition required is extensive, but that
Sweden is at the forefront and
should be at the forefront of
Agenda 2030.27
It is expected that the political
target for the electricity certificate
system of a further 18 TWh of
renewable production by 2030 will
have been reached by as early as
2021, nine years in advance. The
continued wind power expansion
after 2021 will take place entirely
without subsidies, something that is
already happening in several
places. Over the past ten years,
technology development has
halved the cost of new, onshore
wind power, which is now less than
40 öre / kWh for the best projects.
This makes wind power the cheapest form of power that can be
expanded to the extent required in
Sweden.28

A common electricity certificate market for
Sweden and Norway
The Swedish/Norwegian electricity certificate market was launched in 2003. Initially
it involved only the Swedish market until
2012 when Norway also joined the system.
The system entitles producers of renewable
energy to electricity certificates for each
MWh of renewable electricity generated.
Buyers are players with a so-called quota
obligation, primarily electricity suppliers.
Those with a quota obligation must buy a
certain number of electricity certificates
proportionate to the electricity that they sell
or use.
The current common goal is to increase
renewable electricity generation in Sweden
and Norway by a total of 28.4 TWh between
2012 and 2020. The Swedish energy agreement which was introduced in the summer
of 2016 means that the electricity certificate system for Sweden's part is extended
by a further 18 TWh of new certificates up to
2030. Norway has chosen not to participate
in the extension of the system. In Sweden,
the Swedish Energy Agency has proposed a
date stop for new plants in the electricity
certificate system after 31 December 2030.29

45

Source: Bloomberg
New Energy Finance

20

OX2 Annual Report 2018

Po
la
nd

It
al
y

Es
to
ni
a

De
nm
ar
k

UK

Fr
an
ce

Sw
ed
en

40

High
Low

Medium

25) Swedish Energy Agency
26) Svensk Vindenergi
27) Government Offices of Sweden
28) Svensk Vindenergi, February 2019
29) Swedish Energy Agency

Ajos wind farm (42 MW) in Finland was completed in 2017. Photo: OX2

Norway – record figures for new
wind power
Norway is, in principle, self-sufficient in electricity from domestic
hydropower in combination with a
smaller amount of gas and a small
but increasing share of wind power.
In 2018, wind power production
increased by 3.9 TWh, 36 percent
more than in 2017, which is a
record.30
At the end of the year, the
Norwegian wind fleet had a
combined nameplate capacity of
1.7 GW wind power, which during a
normal year is expected to produce
just over 6 TWh, just under
5 percent of the total production.31
During the 21st century, the environmental policy has been to
increase electricity generation from
forms of renewable energy other
than hydropower, thereby achieving
a diversified energy mix. For that
reason, in 2012, Norway signed up
to the Swedish electricity certificate system. However, Norway
chose not to extend the system
and therefore only projects
commissioned prior to the end of
2021 will receive electricity certificates. In recent years, investment
decisions have been made for a
30) Norsk klimatstiftelse
31) Vindportalen
32) NORWEA

large amount of wind power and at
the end of 2018, 2 GW was under
construction, divided into 13 different projects.32
In the case of offshore wind
power, the government has
announced that one to two areas
will be opened shortly.33
Finland – subsidy-free investments
of 340 MW
Finland is a net importer of electricity (23 percent of total consumption in 2018) and has a significant
dependence on nuclear power
which accounted for 25% of electricity generation in 2018. Hydropower and wind power accounted
for 22 percent, biomass and peat
17 percent and fossil fuels for
11 percent of electricity generation.
The basic prerequisites for wind
power in Finland are favourable, for
example the possibility of high
tower heights, large land areas, a
significant proportion of regulating
power in the form of hydropower
and a relatively strong grid
infrastructure.
In May 2018, the Finnish Parliament decided to approve the
Government's proposal for production support for renewable energy

and thereby adopt a new auction
system. In addition to reducing the
amount of subsidised energy
production from 2 TWh to 1.4 TWh,
no major changes were made to
the proposal.
During a tender round, electricity
producers must specify the
premium (size of government
support) they need to produce
energy and the expected annual
volume of their energy production.
The projects will then be ranked
based on the tenders and the
projects with the lowest premium
prices will be accepted in ascending order until the annual target for
renewable energy has been
achieved. The state will grant
support for the approved projects
for a maximum of 12 years. A total
of 26 bidders participated in the
auction and the results will be
published in 2019.
In 2018, new investments of
340 MW of wind power were
announced in Finland without any
government support. They were
made possible thanks to PPA
(power purchase agreements for
electricity). Market-based investments in wind power in Finland are
expected to increase significantly in
the coming year.34

33) The Norwegian Water Resources and
Energy Directorate
34) Finnish Wind Power Association
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Germany – in transition
A milestone in the German energy
transition, which involves the phasing out of both fossil energy and
nuclear power, was achieved in
2018 when more than 40 percent of
electricity generation came from
renewable sources, with 38 percent
coming from coal. As recently as
2010, the share of renewable
energy in German electricity generation was just 19 percent. Among
the renewable energy sources,
wind energy is the largest, accounting for 20 percent of German electricity generation. However, the
installation of new wind power was
at a lower level in 2018 than was
needed to achieve the German
government's 2030 target.35
The newly formed government
coalition announced in 2018 that it
had abandoned the previous
carbon dioxide emission target by
2020. Instead, the goal of
65 percent renewable electricity
generation by 2030 is the new
political guideline. German decision-makers are subject to
constant pressure in the form of
protests against lignite extraction
and for increased commitment to
the climate.
At the beginning of 2019, an
appointed commission proposed
the continuous phasing out of coal
until 2038. The phasing out of
German nuclear power will be
completed by 2022 at the latest.36
With the introduction of an
auction-based support system for
renewable electricity in 2017, the
industry initially experienced heavy
falling prices for wind power. In
2018, however, the bid prices
increased to more than EUR 60/
MWh due to not fully subscribed
auctions as a result of a lack of
permitted projects. Despite this,
auction volumes for 2019–2020
have increased.37
The ageing wind fleet means that
there is an increasing need for
repowering and this market is
expected to grow strongly over the
next ten years.

France – great long-term potential
France continues to have untapped
potential for renewable energy.
Nuclear power accounts for almost
three-quarters of electricity generation and the nuclear industry has
a major influence on energy policy.
France is also a major net exporter
of electricity (60 TWh in 2018).38
However, since Emmanuel
Macron became president in May
2017, there has been a greater
focus on a switch to renewable
energy. France aims to become
carbon neutral by 2050. Nuclear
power will not be phased out, but
the share of energy generated by
nuclear power will decrease from
the current 75 percent to
50 percent before 2035.39
2018 was a good year for wind
power in France with 1.5 GW of new
capacity installed. The lead times
for project development improved
during the year, but there are still
administrative problems with the
permitting authorities, resulting in
the blocking of new permits over a
long period. The problems should
be resolved in 2019, but the expansion of renewable energy will lag
behind afterwards.
The support system for onshore
wind power is moving towards an
entirely auction-based system.
France has already conducted two
auctions, where the second
auction was not fully subscribed,
so the rules will change to increase
competition. The third auction, for
750 MW of offshore wind power,
will be strategically important for
offshore wind power in France.
According to the plan, three wind
power auctions totalling 1.6 GW will
be undertaken in 2019, two
auctions totalling 1.8 GW during
2020 and subsequently two per
year for 1 GW each from 2021.
The French government's
recently published energy plan
(PPE) 2023–2028 showed good
future prospects for onshore wind
power over the next decade, but
greater uncertainty regarding
offshore wind power. The plan
confirms the goal of up to 35.6 GW
of onshore wind power by 2028.40

35) Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy
36) Federal Ministry for Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety
37) Federal Network Agency
38) RTE France
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39) Energinyheter.se
40) Wind Power Monthly
41) Energy Regulatory Authority

Sunset, Raskiftet wind farm (112 MW) in Norway.
Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

Poland – renewable energy
back on the agenda
At the end of the year, the Polish
Ministry of Energy published a
proposal for new national targets
with a reduction of coal power
production from the current 80 to
60 percent and an increase in
renewable energy from 11 to
21 percent by 2030.41
The Polish energy plan will be
subject to approval by the EU
Commission at the end of 2019.
However, in February 2018, the EU
Commission published a 2030
target for Poland with a zero emission generation of 45 percent of the
total electricity production (38%

renewable energy and 7% nuclear
power). As Poland is unlikely to
build nuclear power plants by 2030,
renewable energy would have to
account for 45 percent, rather than
21 percent. The country also has a
target to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions by 45 percent between
1990 and 2030. Poland still has
some work to do here as the
reduction in emissions has
remained stable at 30 percent
below 1990 levels over the last ten
years.42, 43
In 2018, almost 1 GW of approved
wind farms and 600 MW of solar
farms with 15-year contracts were

allocated via auctions. In connection with the auctions, it became
clear that onshore wind power is
the cheapest technology for lowering electricity prices in the foreseeable future. The greatest obstacle
to development is the "10 x total
height" ("10H rule") distance rule to
the closest settlement which the
Polish government adopted in 2016
and which is still in force. This rule
has reduced the number of development projects to almost zero.
For 2019, extensive auctions for
permitted renewable projects have
been published, but the dates have
not yet been determined.

The auction volume for 2019
amounts to approximately 1.5 GW of
large-scale land-based wind and
solar cell plants and about 1 GW of
smaller solar parks. In 2020, the
Polish government is likely to
continue with auctions for renew
able energy, but a lack of permitted, onshore wind farms can be
expected due to the 10H rule.44
Offshore wind power is expected
to replace coal power in the early
2030s, but at present, onshore
wind and solar power are the most
competitive forms of renewable
energy.

42) Ministerstwo Energii
43) European Commission
44) Energy Regulatory Authority
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Wind power investments in Europe
There are essentially two types of
investment groups investing in wind
power in today's market, financial
investors and energy companies.
Seen as an investment decision,
2018 was a record year, when
investment in new wind power
capacity in Europe increased by
20 percent compared with the
previous year. Almost two-thirds of
the total investment of EUR 27
billion were invested in onshore
wind power, and the remainder in
offshore.45

Maevaara wind farm (105 MW) in
Sweden. Photo: OX2

“In terms of investment decisions, 2018
was a record year”
WindEurope

45) WindEurope
46) Bloomberg NEF
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Financial investors – investment
increases with price hedging as
guarantee
The financial investors are key to
OX2. They buy a completed wind
farm which generates stable and
long cash flows with a good return.
They include specialised asset
managers such as Aquila Capital
and Fontavis and insurance
companies like Allianz, all clients of
OX2. The long-term, stable return
means that pension funds also see
these investments as attractive.
Investment is often carried out in
connection with the signing of a
long-term price hedging agreement
(e.g. PPA) for the electricity or a
share of the electricity produced by
the wind farm. A PPA typically
provides a fixed guaranteed price
over a predetermined period of the
wind farm’s life. Electricity buyers
are usually companies with high
electricity consumption with the
ambition to reduce their carbon
dioxide emissions. To be able to
hedge its electricity consumption in
the long term is also seen as
economically attractive. One example of a company that has entered
into several PPAs is Google, with
whom OX2 has collaborated in
several projects.
In 2018, a historically large
number of PPAs were signed
globally, an increase from 6.2 GW
in 2017 to a record level of 13.4 GW.
That the proportion of commitments from major, electricity-
consuming companies has

increased to such an extent is
important for the industry and an
incentive for a fossil-free future.
Major companies take responsibility
and want to ensure that the energy
they consume comes from clean
energy sources. PPAs make the
investment more attractive for
institutional investors because the
electricity price is predetermined a
number of years ahead. In 2018,
North America accounted for the
majority of the PPA agreements.
The distribution between forms of
power in 2018 was relatively equal
between wind and solar power,
with wind power just slightly ahead
(6.9 MW).46
Some major electricity consumers also invest directly in wind
power instead of purchasing
renewable electricity via a PPA.
IKEA and Polarbröd are examples
of companies that have bought
wind farms from OX2.
Energy companies – increasingly
active as investors in renewable
energy
With the goal of building a position
in the future fossil-free energy
system and acquiring new production capacity at a relatively low
cost, several major well-established
European energy companies and
power producers, such as E.ON,
EDF Energies Nouvelles, Orsted,
Engie and Enel Green Power have
increased their focus on investment in renewable energy. The
energy companies have remained
active in the market during 2018. Oil
companies, including Shell, Equinor
and Total, have also allocated capital to renewable energy in recent
years, especially in offshore wind
projects.
OX2 has had several energy
companies as customers during its
existence. In recent years, OX2 has
collaborated with Stadtwerke
München, Eidsiva Energi and
Gudbrandsdal Energi on Raskiftet
wind farm (112 MW) in Norway,
which was completed and handed
over in December 2018.

Interview with investment director
at Aquila Capital
Aquila Capital has quickly established itself as one of the most
active investors in renewable energy in the Nordic region. The
first acquisition agreement with OX2 was signed in 2016, and
since then the companies have collaborated on approximately
660 MW of wind power.

Aquila Capital manages sustainable
investments for institutional investors. Since the company was
founded, Aquila Capital has
invested more than SEK 5.2 billion in
facilities that produce renewable
energy and currently has one of
Europe's largest independent portfolios of renewable energy with a
total generation capacity of 3.7 GW.
“On a global basis, we invest in
those places where renewable
energy can compete on market
terms. It is not about hunting for
the most profitable subvention
system, but the costs must be
competitive,” says Ingmar Helmke.
To date Aquila Capital has
invested in nine wind power
projects (approximately 1067 MW) in
the Nordic region, five of which
have been in collaboration with
OX2. It regards the Nordic region as
its most important market.
“We like the Nordic region for
several reasons. The Nordic countries are stable, with good wind
power and they have a mature
market with very professional
developers, consultants and
banks.”

In 2018, OX2 completed and
handed over three projects to
Aquila: Lehtirova wind farm
(148 MW) and Högkölen wind farm
(65 MW) in Sweden, as well as
Yxpila wind farm (14.4 MW) in
Finland. Project Valhalla (366 MW),
one of Europe’s largest onshore
wind farms, is still under construction and is expected to be
completed in spring 2020.
“The cooperation with OX2 can
be seen in the good relationship
and trust that we have built up
together. We really appreciate the
high standard and quality that
exists at OX2 and the professionalism and dedication shown by its
team. This, combined with the
team's in-depth knowledge of the
needs of investors and financial
institutions and its cooperative
spirit, makes OX2 a valuable and
appreciated business partner for
Aquila.”
Helmke believes that the Nordic
market has more to give, because
costs are still falling and there is
high demand.
“We are still looking for new and
attractive investment opportunities
in the Nordic region, and are looking
forward to doing more business
with OX2.”

“We really appreciate
the high standard,
quality and dedication
demonstrated by OX2”
Ingmar Helmke,
Aquila Capital

Photo: Aquila

OX2 Annual Report 2018

25

Sustainability –
new challenging goals
OX2 is convinced that the goal of a 100%
sustainable planet can only be achieved
through interaction between people, the
environment and the market.
OX2 strives every day to become a little better and
smarter with respect to sustainability. Both as an
organisation and as human beings.
OX2's products and services, which are about realising renewable power generation, are in themselves an
essential contribution to a more sustainable society.
However, there are several dimensions that are key to
becoming a fully sustainable company. This sustainability report describes the sustainability work from
three dimensions:
People – Planet – Profit
It is the interaction between these dimensions that
creates a sustainable social development and that will
be required if we are to achieve the global goals in
Agenda 2030 (see description on page 28).
In 2018, the sustainability work has been strengthened. A sustainability manager has been appointed for
Peas Industries, the company that owns OX2, as well
as a sustainability coordinator specifically for OX2. This
enables continued development. Before 2019 and
onwards, a number of new challenging goals have
been set for the sustainability work.
OX2's business model
OX2 has the benefit of successfully building up a business based on solving one of the greatest challenges
of our time – climate change. The founders of OX2
embarked on this challenge by creating a company
based on commercialising the expansion of renewable
energy. Today, it may appear self-evident, but 15 years
ago, renewable energy was considered an area where
it was difficult to make money.
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The business has gradually grown and expanded as
technology has developed and it has become increasingly cheaper to switch to a more sustainable energy
generation. The People - Planet - Profit concept is a
success factor and a guiding principle in the business.
For more detailed information on OX2's business
model and market analysis, see pages 12, 6–7 and
14–24.

Installation of wind turbine, Lehtirova wind farm (148 MW) in Sweden. Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

Priorities
OX2 has set ambitious goals as to how the company can contribute to a
more sustainable planet. At the same time, priorities need to be made.
In 2018, a materiality analysis was conducted, which meant that the
business was analysed from both an external and internal perspective.
This work included interviews with customers, partners and employees.
Finally, OX2 came up with a number of priority areas:

People
• Health & safety
• Diversity & gender equality
• Non-discriminatory culture
• Relations with the local
community
• Healthy and balanced
work culture

Planet
• Environmental law
• Renewable energy generation
• Carbon footprint
• Emissions to land and sea

Profit
• Anti-corruption
• Innovation
• Long-term profitability
• Sustainable supply chain
• Public debate

The materiality analysis has, among other things, formed the basis for
OX2's business planning for 2019 and beyond. It influences the goals as
well as how they are to be fulfilled and reported. OX2's sustainability
goals and follow-up within each area are reported on pages 31–41.
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OX2 and Agenda 2030
Agenda 2030 highlights the UN's 17 global sustainable development goals. It has been recognised as a global benchmark for the sustainable development required for a planet and population in balance. With a vision of a 100% sustainable planet, it is natural for OX2 to clarify how
the company contributes to this development. In addition to being the basis for accounting,
analysis and goals, Agenda 2030 is, for OX2, also an agenda of business opportunities. Below
are the goals to which OX2 has the greatest opportunity to make a positive contribution.

People

Goal 5. Gender equality
OX2 is a company undergoing expansion and
strong growth. This means that OX2 regularly
recruits and hires personnel. This gives the
company an opportunity to engage in issues
of diversity and gender equality. This poses a
challenge as OX2 operates in a traditionally
male industry. The goal is to achieve as equitable and inclusive a workplace as possible.

Goal 8. Decent work and economic growth
Employees of OX2 are employed in countries
characterised by good employment conditions. However, OX2 engages many different
subcontractors who in turn employ personnel
from countries that do not always have the
same tradition of fair working conditions. The
company therefore has an important role to
play in setting clear requirements for decent
working conditions throughout its entire value
chain of suppliers.
In connection with the establishment of a
wind power plant, local suppliers must be
hired to the extent that they meet requirements regarding quality and competitive
pricing.

Planet

Goal 7. Affordable and clean energy for all
A large proportion of the world's greenhouse
gas emissions are generated as a result of the
methods we use to extract, convert and
utilise fossil energy. OX2 contributes to the
reduced use of fossil energy by generating
renewable energy on a large scale. This also
promotes technology development with
continued increased efficiency and ever
lower costs.

Goal 13. Climate action
Greenhouse gas emissions continue to rise,
which has serious consequences for ecosystems, ocean acidification, human safety, food
production, water supply, health and
increased risk of natural disasters. OX2's business is about expanding generation of renewable energy in order to contribute to reducing
greenhouse gases.

Profit

Goal 8. Decent work and economic growth
OX2 operates within an industry of the future.
The transition from fossil to renewable energy
systems will benefit sustainable economic
growth, which includes the whole of society.
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Goal 9. Industry, innovation and infrastructure
Industries and infrastructures need to
become more sustainable. OX2 is constantly
working to develop its business through innovation and the latest technology. This is a
prerequisite for continued success.

Goal 10. Reduced inequality
An equal society is based on the principle
that everyone has equal rights and opportunities irrespective of, for example, gender,
ethnicity, religion, disability, age and other
status.
It is also a principle that guides OX2's
operations in different countries, both in the
offices and at the project sites. Since the
company is enjoying strong growth, it is
particularly important to seek equality in the
recruitment of new personnel.

People
OX2 is primarily a knowledge-intensive organisation that is dependent on its ability to attract
and retain skilled and committed personnel. Our objective is for OX2 to be able to offer an
attractive and safe work environment in which the expertise, commitment and health of the
employees is managed and developed. This is something that is, above all, followed up in
annual staff appraisals. OX2 also aims to build good relations with the local communities
where production facilities are established and to contribute to a positive development for the
local communities. Since OX2 engages many subcontractors and suppliers, it is important to
also set clear requirements for them and ensure that they share OX2's values and

goals.
Photo: OX2/Christian Gustavsson

Peter Haavikko
Land manager

Klara Wennström
Transaction manager

What are you working on?
“I am responsible for securing land rights for our wind
power projects by signing various types of land
contracts, such as lease, road and management
agreements. Part of the work comprises reviewing and
adapting the contract texts to meet the landowners'
views and to satisfy the demands made by investors.
It also includes a responsibility to fulfil the obligations
stipulated in these agreements; for example, that we
do not intrude beyond the leased land area and that
payments of compensation are managed until the
project is commissioned.”

What are you working on?
“I work mainly with acquisitions and the realisation of
wind power projects. When making acquisitions, it is
very important to evaluate whether the projects have
the qualities required to be competitive in a later sale
and to negotiate the actual transaction. In the realisation phase, the focus is on planning and coordination
of internal work flows and the investor process up to
the start of construction. Within the transaction team,
we work very closely with various experts within the
company, such as project engineers, wind and map
analysts, those responsible for turbine procurement,
permit specialists, etc., but also with external legal,
financial and technical consultants.”

How long have you worked for OX2?
“It is now twelve years since I left Bombardier
Transportation and started at OX2.”
What is the most enjoyable part of your job?
“Being involved with the projects from the development phase until the wind turbines are put into operation means that my work is very varied. I also enjoy all
the contacts I have with the landowners.”
What is it like working for OX2?
“It is inspiring and challenging to work at a company
that is constantly developing.”

How long have you worked for OX2?
“I began working for OX2 in the spring of 2017.”
What is the most enjoyable part of your job?
“The variety of problems to familiarise yourself with,
all the different kinds of work streams I get involved in,
the diversity of colleagues and external parties that I
get to work with.”
What is it like working for OX2?
“We are in an industry that is changing rapidly
and requires that we constantly develop and
renew ourselves. OX2 is a dynamic workplace,
which suits me.”
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Installation of wind turbine, Raskiftet wind farm (112 MW) in Norway. Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

Relations with the local community
Challenging risks/opportunities

Management/control

OX2's operations involve a range of intrusions into nature and people's
environment. For OX2, it is crucial that this is done as inclusively and
respectfully as possible. Dialogue with and respect for local stakeholders is therefore of high priority. Lack of dialogue and acceptance
can damage both operations and confidence, of which there is also
great awareness among investors. A major risk in the relations with
the local community is the long supply chain, where each contractor
is OX2's outward face during construction.

OX2 maintains an open dialogue with the local community in order to
minimise the impact on people and contribute to local advantage, for
example through new jobs. When it sets up wind power plants in
Sweden, OX2 administers a so-called community fund, which means
that part of the revenue from wind power is channelled into local
projects with a positive impact on the communities involved. Recipients may include residents' associations, parish associations or local
history societies, for example. In Finland, unlike Sweden, property tax
is paid to the municipality instead of to the state, which means that
the local community receives a natural allocation when a wind power
plant is established.
OX2's crisis management plan also forms the basis for how the
company will act in the event of accidents, emissions, disputes or the
spreading of rumours.

Results and key figures

Goals

• Some ten local information meetings with the public and two open
houses have been carried out during the year, in addition to a
larger number of targeted meetings with various stakeholders
• Clear signposting has been ensured in all farms during construction
and operation in order to increase the dissemination of information
and to make available contact information for responsible parties
• Each project has a website containing information and contact
information
• In 2018, community grants have been allocated to 16 different
projects.

• To respect the local community and be visible, accessible, transparent and proactive in the dialogue where plants are established
• To ensure that contractors and suppliers engaged demonstrate
social responsibility
• To always provide feedback to those making complaints.
Relevance to SDG
OX2 strives to ensure social inclusion for all people in society in line
with SDG goals 10.2 and 16.7.

Open house at Maevaara wind farm (105 MW) in Sweden. Photo: OX2
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Health & safety
Challenging risks/opportunities

Management/control

The construction of large power plants gives rise to accident risks for
both employees and the suppliers hired by OX2. A major challenge
with regard to a safe working environment is that the majority of
those who work in construction projects are subcontractors. The
longer the supply chain, the more difficult it is to control the working
environment and ensure that it is being managed in an optimal way.
Ensuring a safe working environment has also become an increasingly important factor for being able to continue attracting capital
from responsible investors.

OX2 is committed to a good and safe working environment. Working
to ensure a systematic working environment is the basis for ensuring
the health and safety of OX2 employees and contracted suppliers.
The most important work in the working environment takes place in
the various construction projects, but of course it is also important
that employees who work in the offices have a good working environment. Health and safety are a prerequisite for achieving OX2’s objective of being a social, responsible, innovative and attractive company.
A number of internal documents and policies are tools in this work,
e.g. the working environment policy and the code of conduct. Overall,
all employees are encouraged to live as healthily as possible through,
for example, participation in various competitions and races. In 2018,
for example, OX2 participated in the Stafettvasan ski race and the
Stafesten race. OX2 has also ensured that most offices have the
opportunity to change clothes and shower after training.

Results and key figures

Goals

In 2018, OX2 has developed and followed up measurable internal
indicators for social sustainability.
• The health index for 2018 shows a high health attendance of
99.4 percent (99.5% in 2017).
• No serious accidents were reported in 2018.
• In the construction projects, 39 incidents and 24 minor accidents
were reported during the year.

• No serious workplace accidents
• High health attendance and little long-term sick leave
• Contractual requirements for contractors regarding responsible
work environment and safety work.
Relevance to SDG
OX2 strives to protect employees' rights and promote a safe and
secure work environment, which also includes labour immigrants and
employees of all contracted subcontractors, in line with SDG goal 8.8.

Diversity & gender equality
Challenging risks/opportunities

Management/control

As OX2 expands both in size and geographical spread, the need for an
inclusive corporate culture increases. This includes gender equality,
but also a workforce characterised by different cultures and backgrounds. The strength offered by multicultural teams is also accompanied by the risks which may arise when groups are created
comprising individuals with different perspectives. This needs attention and is to be managed so that everyone feels included and that
the differences contribute to advantage and added value.

OX2 tries to promote a way of working which is open, inclusive and
supportive. In recruitment, the main criterion is expertise, but in the
event of two candidates having equal qualifications, the policy is to
employ the under-represented gender, in order to smooth out differences in the gender balance. In line with this, OX2 also makes efforts
to achieve a gender balance among managers. OX2 has a gender
equality policy that clarifies how to relate in connection with recruitment, managerial appointments and daily work. The annual salary
survey also ensures gender equality in remuneration issues between
genders.

Results and key figures

Goals

The pace of recruitment during 2018 has remained high and more
than 25 new employees have been appointed within OX2.

• Gender equality between men and women in terms of employment
and compensation, overall and in senior positions
• To promote diversity in recruitment.

• At the end of the period, the company had a total of 61 employees,
79 percent of whom were men and 21 percent women.

Relevance to SDG
OX2 is striving to achieve an equal and inclusive working life in line
with SDG goals 5.1, 5.5 and 10.2.
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Non-discriminatory culture
Challenging risks/opportunities

Management/control

In international and multicultural activities, there is always a risk that
different behaviours can be perceived as offensive or discriminatory.
For OX2, it is crucial that all employees and partners feel just as much
worth, are well treated and have the opportunity to express dissatisfaction in a simple way and with integrity if they feel that something is
not right. This of course also applies to relations with the local
community and the indigenous population where OX2 establishes
wind power.

OX2’s value base is described in a code of conduct that all employees
receive in connection with their engagement. OX2 accepts no form of
violation of human rights or other forms of degrading treatment. OX2
is striving to achieve a corporate culture which is totally non-discriminatory in respect of gender, sexual orientation,transgender identity or
expression, ethnic origin, religion or any other belief, disability or age.
There is an established whistleblowing system that enables OX2’s
employees to report abuse of various kinds anonymously.

Results and key figures

Goals

During 2018, no cases of discrimination were reported via the whistleblowing system. OX2's value base has been regularly discussed at
internal conferences and is highlighted regularly at internal meetings.

• No discrimination or harassment
• No reported human rights violations.
Relevance to SDG
OX2 strives to ensure equal opportunities for all employees and to
reduce the incidence of discrimination in line with SDG goal 10.3.

Healthy and balanced work culture
Challenging risks/opportunities

Management/control

OX2 operates in an industry with fierce competition and a high pace.
The employees are ambitious and committed. Naturally, this is
positive, but it also places higher demands on both employees and
employer to ensure that a healthy balance is maintained between
working life and private life. It is OX2's duty to contribute in various
ways to helping employees who have become unbalanced, but above
all to proactively contribute to ensuring that no one gets into a situation that contributes to ill-health. Healthy employees are a prerequisite for a sustainable and healthy company.

OX2 is convinced that employees who feel good and are well
balanced have the opportunity to perform optimally and for a long
time. OX2 closely monitors how all employees feel through regular
performance reviews, assigning resources as required. OX2 has a
crisis management plan and an HR manual that are used, for
example, in connection with psychosocial crises.
In 2018, OX2 continued its focus on training within Mindfulness. It is
a programme that runs throughout the year with employees being
given the opportunity to learn how to handle everyday life by being
present while helping themselves to regular recovery in their daily
work. This investment will continue during 2019.

Results and key figures

Goal

The response to the mindfulness programme has been very positive.

• High health attendance and little long-term sick leave
• Offer all employees Mindfulness training.

• At the end of the year, 43 employees, of whom one was a consultant, had undergone one or more stages in this training
• The health index for 2018 shows a high health attendance of 99.4
percent (2017: 99.5%).

Relevance to SDG
OX2 strives to promote mental health and well-being in line with SDG
goal 3.4 through preventive work.
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Planet

Lehtirova wind farm (148 MW) in Sweden.
Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

OX2 has a vision of participating
and contributing to a 100% sustainable planet. It is mainly climate
change that OX2 can combat by
promoting the transition to a
renewable energy sector. To date,
OX2 has generated more than 2 GW
of wind power in the Nordic region.
Although wind power is a renewable energy source and important
for the transition, the construction
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of a wind farm also has an impact
on nature. OX2 has been certified in
accordance with the ISO 14001
global environmental management
standard since 2010. This means
that OX2 systematically analyses
risks and opportunities, but also
works towards clear and verifiable
environmental targets. The environmental targets reflect just one part
of the improvement work. The

construction of wind power plants
requires environmental permits
with the fulfilment of stringent
requirements and the goal is to
take even greater consideration
than is required by the authorities.
It is also of the utmost importance
that wind farms are built where
conditions are at their best, in order
to maximise the benefit of the
intrusion occurring.

Renewable energy generation
Challenging risks/opportunities

Management/control

If global warming is to be limited to 1.5 degrees, extensive and urgent
investment is needed in renewable electricity generation, for example. In 2018, the EU succeeded in raising its ambitions for the 2030
goals so that they are in line with the climate goals of the Paris Agreement. There is now an agreement on a goal of 32 percent renewable
energy (previously 27%).

OX2 contributes to the transition by realising new large-scale plants
producing renewable energy. By realising the best projects, optimised
on the basis of each project's specific conditions and ensuring high
availability in the plants that are commissioned, the greatest benefit
can be achieved in relation to the environmental impact. The intrusion
is minimised through great consideration and adaptation to the environment at the facilities.

Results and key figures

Goal

• The financing of eight 500 MW wind farms was secured in 2018, of
which 220 MW were signed sales agreements. Four wind farms of
approximately 340 MW were completed and handed over to the
purchasers on schedule. A total of 13 wind farms were built during
the year, corresponding to approximately 950 MW in Sweden,
Norway and Finland, which is a record in OX2's history.

• OX2's most important environmental goal is to increase the amount
of renewable energy and create profitability with the least possible
intrusion into nature.
• OX2 wants to maximise renewable electricity generation with the
least possible impact on the environment.

Wind power projects sold

Relevance to SDG

MW

OX2 strives to increase the share of renewable energy in the global
energy mix, in line with SDG goal 7.2.
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Environmental law
Challenging risks/opportunities

Management/control

OX2's operations in different countries are subject to a variety of
environmental legislation. Adhering to the various laws that regulate its
operations is self-evident, but can be challenging when regulations in
these areas are continuously added and changed.

OX2 has an environmental policy that governs its work with regard to
environmental responsibility. OX2 has been ISO14001-certified since
2010, which ensures a systematic approach to the environment, both
generally within the company and particularly within the projects. In
addition, the projects usually require environmental permits, which is
why OX2's suppliers and partners are constantly reviewed and
inspected by the authorities. OX2 works systematically with self-
monitoring and follow-up of laws, rules, permits and conditions.

Results and key figures

Goal

• Approved ISO14001 certification for 2018
• Generally, there was a high level of compliance within the projects.
However, unauthorised water activities were carried out in connection with the fact that a stream was accidentally blocked during
road works at a project. The stream has been prepared and
compensatory measures are scheduled to be carried out in 2019.
• Great care has been taken when working in sensitive areas, roads
have been rerouted to reduce impact.

• Maintain ISO14001 certification
• In 2019, OX2 will begin to survey the intrusion into nature by following up on the proportion of felled forests at the various projects.
Relevance to SDG
OX2 strives to preserve sustainable ecosystems and biodiversity in
line with SDG goals 15.1 and 15.5.
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Carbon footprint
Challenging risks/opportunities

Management/control

Climate change is a threat to humanity. Greenhouse gas emissions
generated by the use of fossil fuels continue to rise. If global warming
exceeds 2 degrees, the consequences will be very serious. By generating wind power in a climate-smart way to a large extent and at a
fast pace, OX2 has the opportunity to help prevent this.

OX2's entire business concept is based on accelerating the transition
from a fossil fuel to a renewable energy system, which will help to
reduce climate problems. But building the plants is not a climate-
neutral process. It requires materials, transport and procedures
where each part generates a carbon footprint. OX2 strives to continuously reduce its own direct and indirect carbon footprint. This is also
done by making demands on subcontractors.

Results and key figures

Goals

• During 2018, awareness was created and preparatory work began
on how to reduce the company's carbon footprint.
• In general, OX2 works actively to reduce its carbon footprint by
means of careful road construction, giving great consideration to
felling, well-planned logistics and the use of local materials.

• To start surveying and minimising the carbon footprint in the entire
value chain in 2019, directly and indirectly. This includes life cycle
analyses of turbines and other materials, but also following up on
transport, the quantity of felled forest at the various projects etc.
Relevance to SDG
OX2 strives to increase knowledge and capacity to combat climate
change and increase the share of renewable energy in the global
energy mix in line with SDG goals 13.3 and 7.2.

Emissions to land and sea
Challenging risks/opportunities

Management/control

Sustainable ecosystems and biodiversity are the foundation of our life
on earth. Land degradation and deforestation lead to increased levels
of greenhouse gases and threaten both the climate and the survival
of animal species. When OX2 builds wind farms, environmental
permits are required that regulate the business and ensure that
consideration is taken. There is always a certain risk of different
emissions, which must constantly be monitored. The greatest risk is
oil spills from vehicles or machinery.

OX2 works systematically with environmental risks through, among
other things, ISO14001 procedures for follow-up and continuous
improvement and active work with self-monitoring. OX2 has an environmental policy that is indicative of the work in general and there are
detailed instructions for each project. The impact on the environment
when establishing new wind farms is minimised by taking the greatest
consideration. Road routes are adjusted to avoid areas of high bio
diversity and each tree is counted. In the case of accidents that may
lead to emissions and spills, OX2 has good procedures for handling
and reporting them.

Results and key figures

Goals

• No serious environmental emissions or spills occurred during 2018.
The minor spills that occurred could be managed and sanitised in
an environmentally sound manner.

• High degree of consideration and adaptation to the environment
where OX2 establishes wind farms
• To ensure that OX2's suppliers have the knowledge and expertise
required to carry out their work with the greatest possible consideration for the environment.
Relevance to SDG
OX2 strives to prevent and reduce all kinds of pollutants being
produced from onshore operations and to reduce the destruction of
natural habitats in line with SDG goals 15.1 and 15.5.
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Work at Lehtirova wind farm. Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

Profit

Raskiftet wind farm (112 MW) in Norway was completed in 2018.
Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

OX2's most important environmental goal is to increase
the amount of renewable energy on the market. So far,
it has been most profitable to realise large-scale wind
power plants, since onshore wind power is the most
mature and cost-effective source of renewable energy
that can be expanded on a large scale in Europe. It is
also through wind power that OX2 has been able to
make great achievements through its experience and
position.
OX2, through its operations, creates the conditions
for a fossil-free future, both in the markets where OX2
operates directly but also in other markets by promot-
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ing the development of technology, financing and
forms of cooperation. Its many years of experience in
generating wind power are a source of new business
opportunities, not least within other forms of renewable energy. OX2 strongly believes in the future market
for renewable energy driven by a technological and
commercial revolution where both large groups and
small start-ups will compete for capital, either together
or in competition. OX2 wants to lead this development
through high quality, customer focus and the vision of
a 100% sustainable planet.

Long-term profitability
Challenging risks/opportunities

Management

Historically, renewable energy was perceived as alternative and costly.
OX2, however, saw from the outset the commercial potential of
expanding wind power and has always believed that commercial
forces can promote the transition to a sustainable society. Technological development with increased efficiency and drastically reduced
costs has meant that renewable energy is today competing with fossil
energy on purely economic grounds. Awareness of climate change is
promoting this transition.

By developing profitable wind power projects, OX2 is leading the transition towards a more sustainable future. OX2 regards increased net
sales and a positive financial result as a prerequisite for increased
sustainable value creation for society and all relevant stakeholders.
The wind power facilities that OX2 introduces in different markets
attract mainly international financial investors looking for a stable and
long-term return, combined with great environmental benefits.

Results and key figures

Goals

In financial terms, 2018 was the strongest and most successful year
in the company's history, with increased sales and operating profit.
In addition, OX2 increased the amount of renewable energy on the
market by commissioning approximately 340 MW of new wind power.

•
•
•
•

• Net sales totalled SEK 4,136 million
• Operating profit totalled SEK 363 million

Relevance to SDG
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Increased amount of renewable energy on the market
Increased sales
Increased operating profit
Growth, both economically and numerically

OX2 strives to maintain economic growth per capita and full employment in accordance with national conditions, in line with SDG goals 8.1
and 8.5.
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Influencing opinion
Challenging risks/opportunities

Management

The OX2 business concept is based on the fact that humanity is
facing a decisive climate challenge and that there is an urgent need
to switch to a renewable energy system. The prerequisites for
success involve technology and financing, but also the political and
social will to bring about this change. Political fluctuations can entail
both business risks and business opportunities.

OX2 does not take a party political position, but through involvement
in industry associations and other interest groups, the company
endeavours to influence the public debate in a way that is positive for
a renewable transition of the energy system. This is done, for example, by participating in media debates, conferences and seminars
where industry issues are discussed.

Results and key figures

Goals

• During the year, OX2 has actively worked on issues relating to the
prerequisites for a comprehensive expansion of wind power, for
example within the framework of industry associations and through
active cooperation with grid companies.

• To create the prerequisites for a 100% renewable energy system
• To clarify the long-term rules of the game
• Create understanding, insight and acceptance for the transition of
the energy system
• To strengthen the legal position of wind power.
Relevance to SDG
OX2 strives to encourage and promote effective public and public/
private partnerships in line with goal 17.7.
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Anti-corruption
Challenging risks/opportunities

Management

As in all activities involving the sale and financing of large projects,
there are always risks associated with corruption or other fraudulent
behaviour. For OX2, however, these risks are limited partly because it
has only a few employees who have role which enables them to be
exposed to this type of risk, and partly because OX2 is active in
markets where these inherent risks are relatively low. The risk is also
limited by the fact that OX2 has a clear culture and clear guidelines for
how employees should act. But the more the business grows and the
longer the supply chains become, the greater the risks become and
the more difficult to review.

OX2 is actively working to prevent bribery and corruption. OX2's
anti-corruption policy governs how OX2 employees should act in
different business contexts, for example in the event of suspected
irregularities. There is an established whistleblowing system that
enables OX2’s employees to report abuse of various kinds
anonymously.
Supplier contracts also require that they comply with the country's
laws on corruption and bribery and that they follow OX2's policy. This
also applies when they engage subcontractors. In the event of
infringement, OX2 demands that corrective measures are taken, or
otherwise the contract will be terminated.
When preparing agreements for community grants (wind power
plants in Sweden), OX2 ensures a democratic process when allocating the funds by being involved in the preparation of statutes and
rules for the receiving organisation.

Results and key figures

Goals

• No issues regarding business ethics were reported during 2018.
• The focus has been on formulating by-laws and rules for recipients
of community grants, in order to ensure a democratic process for
distribution of the community fund.

• Zero tolerance towards all forms of corrupt business behaviour
• OX2's code of conduct (value base) as a requirement in all supplier
contracts and purchasing criteria
• To ensure that the beneficiary of the community grant from a wind
power plant is a well-organised, democratic association.
Relevance to SDG
OX2 strives to reduce all forms of corruption and bribery in line with
SDG goal 16.5.

Innovation
Challenging risks/opportunities

Management

OX2 is constantly endeavouring make things smarter, more profitable
and, at the same time, more sustainable. Customers and suppliers
are also challenged to be more innovative.
Innovation always brings with it both opportunities and risks. Risks
may arise, for example, if you enter the market prematurely or if you
invest in the wrong technology. But daring to take risks and tolerate
failures is perhaps the most important factor for successful
innovation.

OX2 is a fast-moving company that constantly adapts to a changing
market. This is made possible by a corporate culture that encourages
initiatives, new ideas and allows mistakes.
Transparency, trust and dialogue are also very important in the
relationship with OX2's customers. The investor process is an audit
that is welcomed, as it provides opportunities for improved cooperation, quality and development.
OX2 is working in conjunction with the authorities, suppliers and
other stakeholders in the industry on a number of research and
development projects to develop wind power.

Results and key figures

Goals

• OX2's success in 2018 is largely explained by an innovative working
method with adaptations to new technology, changed prerequisites, new business opportunities and greater investor
requirements.
• OX2 has also challenged its suppliers by constantly questioning
methods and ways of working.
• OX2 has a wind power project in the European collaboration New
European Wind Atlas, NEWA.
OX2 is also represented on the Board of StandUp for Wind, which is
a research collaboration between Uppsala University and the
Swedish Royal Institute of Technology.

• To promote innovative products and processes
• A learning culture
• Business development.
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Relevance to SDG
OX2 strives to preserve technical innovation in line with SDG goals 8.2
and 9.B.

Sustainable supply chain
Challenging risks/opportunities

Management

OX2 works in conjunction with various suppliers of both equipment
and services in order to be able to realise its projects. The longer the
supply chains become, the more difficult it is for OX2 to monitor and
follow up on the requirements in different areas, which entails business risks. OX2's stakeholders expect OX2 to place high demands on
contracted suppliers and also to ensure that the requirements are
met.

All of OX2’s supplier agreements contain requirements that they must
comply with the country’s legislation regarding the environment,
health and safety, labour law, bribery and corruption, while also
complying with OX2’s code of conduct, both with regard to their own
company and those that they, in turn, engage as sub-contractors. In
the event of infringement, corrective measures are required, or otherwise the contract will be terminated. OX2 prioritises suppliers with
ISO14001 certification.
It is important for OX2 to create an open and learning culture in the
supply chain and to encourage clear reporting on deviations and
measures.

Results and key figures

Goals

OX2 is surveying the suppliers who have the greatest potential
environmental impact. In 2018, the survey covered 27 suppliers. 67
percent were environmentally certified according to ISO 14001 (65%
2017), which corresponds to 99 percent of the procurement value.

• OX2's code of conduct (value base) as a requirement in all supplier
contracts and purchasing criteria
• That all of OX2's major suppliers used in the construction phase
have ISO 14001 certification.

Proportion of ISO 14001 certified suppliers
% value procured
80

99

Relevance to SDG
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OX2 strives to encourage companies to implement sustainable
methods in line with SDG goal 12.6.
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Auditor’s report on the statutory sustainability report
To the general meeting of the shareholders in OX2 AB, corporate identity number 556675-7497
Engagement and responsibility
It is the board of directors who is responsible for the statutory sustainability report for the year 2018 on pages
26-41 and that it has been prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act.
The scope of the audit
Our examination has been conducted in accordance with FAR’s auditing standard RevR 12 The auditor’s opinion
regarding the statutory sustainability report. This means that our examination of the statutory sustainability
report is substantially different and less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing and generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden. We believe that the examination
has provided us with sufficient basis for our opinion.
Opinion
A statutory sustainability report has been prepared.
Stockholm, 16 April 2019
Deloitte AB

Jonas Ståhlberg
Authorized Public Accountant
OX2 Annual Report 2018
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Raskiftet wind farm (112 MW) in Norway. Photo: Joakim Lagercrantz

Board of Directors
and auditors
During 2018, the Board of Directors of OX2 comprised
two board members and a further two members
were elected after the end of the year. Deloitte was
re-engaged as auditor.
The Board of Directors is the company’s second-
highest decision-making body after the shareholders’
meeting. The Board is responsible for the company’s
organisation and the management of the company’s
business, e.g. setting goals and strategy, establishing
procedures and systems for following up goals, continuously assessing the company’s financial situation and
evaluating the operational management.

Johan Ihrfelt
Chairman of the Board

• Current position: CEO of Peas Industries AB.
• Other appointments: Board member of several companies within
Peas Industries and member of the advisory board at a number of
external companies.
• Education: MBA, Stockholm School of Economics and NYU, Stern
School of Business in New York. He also studied law at the University
of Stockholm.
• Born: 1967

Anna-Karin Eliasson Celsing
Board member

• Other appointments: Chairman of the Board of SVT AB. Board
member of Lannebo Fonder AB, Landshypotek Bank AB, Serneke AB,
Volati AB and Peas Industries AB.
• Education: MBA, Stockholm School of Economics.
• Born: 1962

During 2018, the Board of Directors of the OX2 Group
comprised two board members, including the Chairman of the Board. At the annual general meeting held
on 24 April 2018, Jonas Ståhlberg of Deloitte AB was
elected as the company’s auditor for the period until
the 2019 annual general meeting. At the Extraordinary
General Meeting in March 2019, two further Board
members were elected to the Board:
Anna-Karin Eliasson Celsing and Niklas Midby.

Thomas von Otter
Board member

• Current position: Deputy CEO of Peas Industries AB.
• Other appointments: Board member of several companies within 
Peas Industries.
• Education: Studied economics at Stockholm University.
• Born: 1966

Niklas Midby
Board member

• Other appointments: Chairman of the Board of Sbanken ASA,
Resscapital AB and stoEr AB and board member of Consiglio Capital
AB and Peas Industries AB.
• Education: MBA, Stockholm School of Economics.
• Born: 1959

Photo: Christian Gustavsson
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Directors’ Report
The Board of Directors and CEO for OX2 AB, corporate ID no.
556675-7497, with registered office in Stockholm, hereby
submit the annual report and consolidated financial statements for the financial year 01/01/2018 to 31/12/2018.
The nature of the business and its direction
The business concept of OX2 AB and its subsidiaries
(“OX2”) is to develop, build and manage renewable
power production. OX2 AB’s parent company is Peas
Industries AB.
Significant events during 2018
• In May 2018, Yxpila wind farm, 4 wind turbines
(14 MW) in Finland were handed over to the
purchaser, Aquila Capital.
• In September 2018, OX2 signed a sales agreement
with Marguerite, a leading European investment fund
for alternative investments, concerning the sale of
Brännliden, 10 wind turbines (42 MW). Completion of
the wind power farm is planned for late 2019/early
2020.
• In October 2018, OX2 signed an agreement with IKEA
Retail Finland concerning the construction of the
largest subsidy-free wind power project in the Nordic
region. This project relates to four wind farms, 25
wind turbines (107.4 MW) in Finland. IKEA will be
acquiring the parks when they are commissioned in
early 2020.
• In December 2018, Lehtirova wind farm, 41 wind
turbines (148 MW) and Högkölen wind farm, 18 wind
turbines (65 MW) were handed over to the
purchaser, Aquila Capital.

Revenue
Revenue for 2018 totalled SEK 4,135.5 million (2,152.5).
The increase in revenues is attributable to the fact that
four wind farms have been handed over to their
purchasers. A total of 94 wind turbines (339 MW) have
been handed over, all on schedule.
Costs
The costs for goods and project planning during 2018
totalled SEK 3,629.0 million (1,812.5). Other external
costs during 2018 amounted to SEK 58.0 million (40.5).
The increase in external costs compared with the
same period in the preceding year is related to the fact
that operations have expanded. Personnel costs for
2018 totalled SEK 85.5 million (58.8). The increase in
staff costs is explained by the fact that the workforce
has increased compared with the corresponding
period the previous year.
Profit
The operating profit for 2018 was SEK 362.6 million
(240.3). The profit after financial items for 2018
amounted to SEK 383.9 million (250.6). The increase in
profit after financial items compared with the previous
period is primarily attributable to the commissioning of
projects in 2018. The profit for 2018 amounted to SEK
102.1 million (50.3).

• In December 2018, Raskiftet wind farm, 31 wind
turbines (112 MW) were handed over to the client,
a joint venture involving German energy company
Stadtwerke München and Eidsiva Energi and
Gudbrandsdal Energi of Norway.

Financial position and liquidity
Current assets as at 31 December 2018 amounted to
SEK 1,568.3 million (1,397.4). Cash and cash equivalents
as at 31 December 2018 amounted to SEK 706.6 million
(643.3). As at 31 December 2018, other long-term interest-bearing liabilities amounted to SEK 424.5 million
(0.3). Current liabilities as at 31 December 2018
amounted to SEK 800.2 million (1,117.4).

Performance and financial position
The earnings trend for individual periods is affected
primarily by the rate at which wind power projects are
completed, transferred to the customer and the revenue recognised. Similarly, the Balance Sheet is significantly affected by the size of ongoing construction
projects and the stage they are at.

Cash flow
The cash flow from operating activities before changes
in working capital during 2018 totalled SEK 106.9 million
(54.4), and is attributable to accrued profits. The cash
flow from operating activities during 2018 was SEK
–313.3 million (216.5). The cash flow from investment
activities during 2018 amounted to SEK –46.8 million
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(58.8). Cash flow from financing activities for 2018
amounted to SEK 424.2 million (–50.2) and relates
primarily to project financing for four Finnish projects
under construction. The total cash flow for 2018 was
SEK 64.0 million (225.1).
Parent company
The parent company OX2 AB has management, project
development, financing and project implementation.
The operating profit for 2018 was SEK 127.7 million
(154.1). The profit after financial items for 2018
amounted to SEK 206.9 million (154.0). The profit for
2018 amounted to SEK 163.6 million (25.9). The parent
company’s equity as at 31 December 2018 amounted to
SEK 264.9 million (101.3). Cash and cash equivalents as
at 31 December 2018 totalled SEK 263.2 million (80.2).
Employees
As at 31 December 2018, the number of employees
was 61 (45), of which 21 (18) percent were women.
The number of employees has increased by 36
percent (29) compared with the corresponding period
in the previous year. The average number of employees during the year was 53 (40).
Risks and uncertainty factors
The renewable energy industry is dependent on the
general global economic and political situation. Access
to capital and the willingness to invest may affect the
company’s ability to sell projects. The climate and
environmental targets adopted by the EU and individual countries where OX2 operates also affect the
potential for the wind power market and the growth
potential of the company.
The wind power market is regulated by laws and
regulations in respect of both support systems and the
permit process for establishing turbines. A more rigorous permit application process with more stringent
requirements than is currently the case would lead to
longer planning periods and require greater resources,
with a consequent rise in costs. On the Swedish
market, OX2 is affected by the electricity price. The
price of electricity is affected by fundamental factors
such as water access, access to production capacity,
fuel prices, prices of carbon credits and electricity
consumption. The euro rate affects OX2’s investment
calculations, since the turbine suppliers’ costs are in
euros. At the same time, the sale of wind farms to
European purchasers most often takes place in euros,
which minimises the total exposure to the euro, since
turbines represent more than 70 percent of the total
establishment costs for wind power projects. In each
project, currency risks are handled in a way which
meets the finance policy’s requirements for risk minimisation, adapted to the conditions of the particular
project. In addition, account is also taken of the
Group’s total inflows and outflows in euros in the same
period.

The loan-to-value ratio of an investment in a wind farm
is normally around 50–70 percent and, consequently,
changes in the interest market may affect the company’s profitability. In most projects, however, it is the
customer who is responsible for financing risk. There is
a description of financial instruments and risk
management in Note 4.
Research and development
OX2 is working in conjunction with the authorities,
suppliers and other stakeholders in the industry on a
number of research and development projects to
develop wind power. Among other things, OX2 has a
wind power project that constitutes an important hub
in the European cooperation New European Wind Atlas,
NEWA, which provides an opportunity to validate analysis methods and calculation tools for typical conditions
in Scandinavian inland areas. OX2 is also represented
on the board of directors for StandUp for Wind, which
is a research collaboration between Uppsala University
and the Swedish Royal Institute of Technology that
integrates all research related to wind power provisioning; and is represented on a reference group for ongoing research projects. Overall, OX2 intends, as far as is
possible, to be able to contribute to research in
Sweden concerning wind power’s potential for effective integration into the system and the environment
taking place with great consideration for society and
technology.
Outlook and trends
Access to renewable energy is a prerequisite if we are
to reduce carbon dioxide emissions and cope with the
climate challenges facing the world. The amount of
fossil energy used (primarily natural gas) still constitutes almost 80 per cent of the total energy supply.
Undertaking powerful measures right now can accelerate development towards a sustainable energy
system based on renewable sources such as wind,
water and sunlight.1
Forecasts from Wind Europe show that growth in
Europe will increase in the future so that all member
states can meet their EU targets. An annual average
market for installed capacity of 16.5 GW is expected in
Europe over the next five years, offshore wind power
representing approx. 20 per cent. These figures include
installations from new projects, known as greenfield
projects, and re-investments in existing wind farms,
known as repowering.
2019 is expected to be a new record year for both
onshore and offshore wind power, with almost 20 GW
of new installed capacity. The total installed wind
power capacity in Europe currently stands at approx.
190 GW (179 GW within EU28), of which 10 per cent is
offshore. Wind power is currently the second largest
energy source in the EU in terms of capacity, and is
expected to overtake natural gas in 2019 and thus
become the largest energy source in the EU in terms of
installed capacity.2

1) World Meteorological Organization
2) Swedish Energy Agency
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Just over 700 MW of new wind power was installed
in Sweden in 2018, which is a significant increase
compared with 2017 (approx. 220 MW) and 2016
(approx. 500 MW). This increases the result of the
record number of investment decisions relating to
approx. 2,000 MW of new wind power that were made
in 2017, and this effect will continue into 2019. Since
the bipartisan political energy agreement of June 2016,
investment decisions relating to wind power amounting
to almost SEK 62 billion have been made, as indicated
by a summary from Svensk Vindenergi (March 2019). At
the same time, two of Sweden’s eight nuclear reactors
(Ringhals 1 and 2) will be shut down in 2019 and 2020
respectively. Hence capacity equivalent to 7 TWh will
be phased out of the Swedish electrical system.3
In Norway, decisions have been made over the last
few years to invest in a large amount of wind power,
and at the end of 2018, 2 GW was under construction,
divided over 13 different projects.4 In the case of
offshore wind power, the government has announced
that one to two areas will be opened shortly.5
In Finland, new investments in 340 MW of wind power
were announced in 2018, with no state funding. This
was made possible thanks to PPA (fixed-price
contracts for electricity). Market-based investments in
wind power in Finland are predicted to increase signi
ficantly over the coming year.6

The work of the Board of Directors during the year
At the 2018 Annual General Meeting, a Board of
Directors was re-elected comprising Johan Ihrfelt
and Thomas von Otter for the period until the end of
the next Annual General Meeting. Anna-Karin Eliasson
Celsing and Niklas Midby were elected to the Board at
an Extraordinary General Meeting. The Board of Directors for OX2 AB held three Board meetings in 2018.
Proposal for allocation of earnings (SEK)
The following earnings are at the disposal of the Annual
General Meeting:
Unrestricted equity

101,223,155

Net profit for the year

163,573,144

Total

264,796,299

The Board proposes the following sum
be carried forward to new account

264,796,299

Total

264,796,299

Please refer to the income statements and balance
sheets, cash flow statements and additional information that follow for the rest of the parent company’s
and Group’s results. All amounts are expressed in SEK
thousand, unless otherwise specified.

Revenue, results and position, SEK thousand
2018

2017

2016

4,135,513

2,152,503

964,943

362,580

240,276

146,347

9%

11%

15%

383,892

250,624

145,966

9%

12%

15%

1,615,405

1,398,465

760,795

23%

19%

33%

Return on equity

32%

19%

28%

Return on capital employed5

76%

97%

61%

53

40

36

Revenue
Operating profit
Operating margin

1

Profit after financial items
Net margin2
Balance sheet total
Equity ratio3
4

Average number of employees
1)
2)
3)
4)
5)

Operating profit in relation to revenue
Profit after financial items in relation to revenue
Equity in relation to the balance sheet total
Net earnings for the year divided by average equity
Operating profit after financial items plus financial expenses in relation to average capital employed

Annual General Meeting
OX2 AB will hold its Annual General Meeting on 24 April 2019 at the company’s premises at Lilla Nygatan 1 in
Stockholm.

3) Finnish Wind Power Association
4) NORWEA
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5) Norwegian Water Resources and Energy Directorate
6) Finnish Wind Power Association

OX2’s accounts
The Consolidated Income Statement
Amounts in SEK thousand

Note

01/01/2018 –
31/12/2018

01/01/2017 –
31/12/2017

4,135,513

2,152,503

4,135,513

2,152,503

–3,628,994

–1,812,514

Operating revenue
Net sales

5

Total revenue
Cost of goods and project planning
Other costs

6, 7

–57,979

–40,489

Staff costs

8

–85,461

–58,758

Value adjustments of tangible and intangible assets

13, 14

–499

–466

–3,772,933

–1,912,227

362,580

240,276

45,518

26,233

–24,206

–15,885

383,892

250,624

–250,000

–183,500

133,892

67,124

–31,771

–16,835

102,121

50,290

102,121

50,290

102,121

50,290

–379

64

–7,316

–451

1,915

99

96,341

50,002

96,341

50,002

Total operating expenses
Operating profit
Financial income

9

Financial expenses

10

Profit after financial items
Group contributions provided
Profit before tax
Tax

12

Net profit for the year
Net profit for the year attributable to:
Parent company shareholders

Consolidated report of comprehensive income
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income:

Items that will be allocated to the income statement
Translation difference from translation of foreign subsidiaries

Cash flow hedges
Changes in fair value
Tax attributable to cash flow hedges
Total comprehensive income for the year, net after tax

23

Comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
Parent company shareholders
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Consolidated report on financial position
Amounts in SEK thousand

Note

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Assets

Fixed assets
Other intangible fixed assets

13

42,824

404

Plant, equipment and tools

14

1,954

681

2,165

–

46,943

1,085

Other financial assets
Total fixed assets

Current assets
Work in progress on behalf of others

16

292,515

230,888

Accounts receivable

17

350,406

36,747

27,926

25,235

1,275

3,000

189,699

458,182

706,641

643,328

Total current assets

1,568,462

1,397,380

Total assets

1,615,405

1,398,465

Other receivables
Receivables from Group companies
Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Cash and cash equivalents
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Consolidated report on financial position, cont.
Amounts in SEK thousand

Note

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

100

100

368,802

272,461

20

368,802

272,561

Long-term interest-bearing liabilities

22

424,519

337

Derivative instruments

23

15,685

451

Deferred tax liability

12

5,978

7,705

446,182

8,493

199,900

483,728

121,910

84,456

4,102

9,475

129,472

299,765

251,299

184,267

93,639

55,720

800,322

1,117,411

1,615,405

1,398,465

Equity and liabilities
Share capital

19

Retained earnings including profit for the year
Total equity attributable to parent company shareholders

Long-term liabilities

Total long-term liabilities

Current liabilities
Customer advances

24

Accounts payable
Tax liabilities
Other liabilities

25

Liabilities to Group companies
Accrued expenses and deferred income
Total current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

26
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Consolidated report of changes in equity

Amounts in SEK thousand
Opening balance
as at 1 January 2017

Total equity
attributable to
parent company
shareholders

Total equity
attributable to
non-controlling
interests

Total
equity

Share
capital

Translation
reserve

Hedge
fund

Balance
sheet
earnings

100

–456

396

252,891

252,931

–

252,931

50,290

50,290

–

50,290

64

–

64

–352

–

–352

Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income
Translation difference
from translation of
foreign subsidiaries

64

Cash flow hedges

–352

Total other comprehensive
income

–

64

–352

–

–288

–

–288

Total comprehensive
income for the year

–

64

–352

50,290

50,002

–

50,002

–

–

–

–50,000

–50,000

–

–50,000

19,628

19,628

–

19,628

44

272,809

272,561

–

272,561

Total equity
attributable to
parent company
shareholders

Total equity
attributable to
non-controlling
interests

Total
equity

Transactions with owners
Shareholder dividend
Intragroup
restructuring
Closing balance as at
31 December 2017

Amounts in SEK thousand
Opening balance
as at 1 January 2018

100

–392

Share
capital

Translation
reserve

Hedge
fund

Balance
sheet
earnings

100

–392

44

272,809

272,561

–

272,561

102,121

102,121

–

102,121

–379

–

–379

–5,401

–

–5,401

Profit for the period
Other comprehensive
income
Translation difference
from translation of foreign
subsidiaries

–379

Cash flow hedges

–5,401

Total other comprehensive
income

–

–379

–5,401

–

–5,780

–

–5,780

Total comprehensive
income for the year

–

–379

–5,401

102,121

96,341

–

96,341

Closing balance as at
31 December 2018

100

–771

–5,357

374,930

368,902

–

368,902
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Consolidated cash flow report
01/01/2018
31/12/2018

01/01/2017 –
31/12/2017

133,892

67,124

499

466

Income tax paid

–27,460

–13,181

Cash flow from operating activities
before changes in working capital

106,931

54,409

–61,627

–39,270

Decrease(+)/increase(–) in accounts receivable

–313,659

–26,497

Decrease(+)/increase(–) in current receivables

267,630

–222,484

37,454

63,009

–350,043

387,321

–313,314

216,488

–

59,312

–2,165

–

–42,573

–37

–2,086

–432

–46,824

58,843

–

–50,000

424,182

–

–

–196

Cash flow from financing activities

424,182

–50,196

Cash flow for the year

64,044

225,135

–731

21

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

643,328

418,172

Cash and cash equivalents at year end

706,641

643,328

Amounts in SEK thousand

Note

Operating activities
Profit after financial items
Adjustments for items not included in cash flow, etc.

28

Cash flow from changes in working capital
Decrease(+)/increase(–) in work in progress

Decrease(–)/increase(+) in accounts payable
Decrease(–)/increase(+) in current liabilities
Cash flow from current operations
Investment activities
Acquisition of companies under the same controlling influence
Acquisition of shares in other companies
Acquisition of intangible assets
Acquisition of tangible fixed assets
Cash flow from investment activities
Financing activities
Dividend paid to shareholders
Borrowing
Amortisation of leasing debt

Translation difference for cash and cash equivalents
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Parent company income statement
Amounts in SEK thousand

Note

01/01/2018 –
31/12/2018

01/01/2017 –
31/12/2017

313,963

309,044

316

226

314,279

309,270

–75,712

–76,514

Operating revenue
Net sales

5

Other operating revenue
Total revenue
Operating expenses
Cost of goods and project planning
Other external costs

6, 7

–40,579

–29,274

Staff costs

8

–70,152

–48,590

–162

–164

–

–608

–186,605

–155,150

Operating profit

127,674

154,120

Result from participations in Group companies

80,000

–

1,941

402

–2,714

–559

206,901

153,963

–19,565

–120,530

187,336

33,433

–23,763

–7,487

163,573

25,946

163,573

25,946

Total comprehensive income for the year, net after tax

163,573

25,946

Comprehensive income for the year

163,573

25,946

Depreciation and impairment of tangible
and intangible fixed assets

13, 14

Other costs
Total operating expenses

Other interest income and similar income statement items

9

Interest expenses and similar income statement items

10

Profit after financial items
Appropriations

11

Profit before tax
Tax on profit for the year
Net profit for the year

12

Comprehensive income report
Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income:
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Parent Company Balance Sheet
Amounts in SEK thousand

Note

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Assets

Fixed assets
Other intangible fixed assets

13

251

404

Plant, equipment and tools

14

210

148

Participations in Group companies

15

1,515

1,252

1,976

1,804

2,389

8,796

458,962

271,283

9,491

7,154

1,059

393

Cash and cash equivalents

263,244

80,232

Total current assets

735,145

367,858

Total assets

737,121

369,662

Total fixed assets

Current assets
Accounts receivable

17

Current receivables, Group companies
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses and accrued income

18
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Parent company’s balance sheet, cont.
Amounts in SEK thousand

Note

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

100

100

100

100

Profit or loss brought forward

101,223

75,277

Net profit for the year

163,573

25,946

Total unrestricted equity

264,796

101,223

Equity and liabilities
Restricted equity
Share capital

19

Total restricted equity
Unrestricted equity

Total equity

20

264,896

101,323

Untaxed reserves

21

53,844

19,844

30,754

44,691

273,750

133,287

24,263

11,927

Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Liabilities to Group companies
Current tax liabilities
Other current liabilities

25

50,541

30,915

Accrued expenses and deferred income

26

39,073

27,675

Total current liabilities

418,381

248,495

Total equity and liabilities

737,121

369,662
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Parent company changes in equity
Restricted equity

Amounts in SEK thousand
Opening balance as at 1 January 2017

Unrestricted equity

Share capital

Share
premium
reserve

Profit or
loss brought
forward

Profit for
the year

Total equity

100

–

107,112

18,134

125,346

25,946

25,946

Profit for the period
Translation difference from translation
of foreign subsidiaries
Comprehensive income for the year

31
–

31

Appropriation of earnings in accordance
with the decision by the Annual General Meeting

31
–

25,946

25,977

18,134

–18,134

0

Transactions with owners
Shareholder dividend
Closing balance as at 31 December 2017

–50,000
100

31

Restricted equity

Amounts in SEK thousand
Opening balance
as at 1 January 2018

75,246

101,323

Share capital

Share
premium
reserve

Profit or
loss brought
forward

Profit for
the year

Total equity

100

31

75,246

25,946

101,323

163,573

163,573

–

163,573

163,573

25,946

–25,946

0

101,192

163,573

264,896

–

–

Appropriation of earnings in accordance
with the decision by the Annual General Meeting
Closing balance as at 31 December 2018

25,946

Unrestricted equity

Profit for the period
Comprehensive income for the year

–50,000

100

31
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Parent company’s cash flow report
01/01/2018
31/12/2018

01/01/2017 –
31/12/2017

206,901

153,963

197

164

Income tax paid

–13,292

–7,596

Cash flow from operating activities
before changes in working capital

193,806

146,531

–

989

6,407

1,043

–176,385

–253,383

Decrease(–)/increase(+) in accounts payable

–13,937

40,696

Decrease(–)/increase(+) in current liabilities

173,402

42,081

Cash flow from current operations

183,293

–22,043

–263

–625

–

83

–18

–252

–281

–794

Dividend paid to shareholders

–

–50,000

Cash flow from financing activities

–

–50,000

183,012

–72,837

–

34

80,232

153,035

263,244

80,232

Amounts in SEK thousand

Note

Operating activities
Profit after financial items
Adjustments for items not included in cash flow, etc.

28

Cash flow from changes in working capital
Decrease(+)/increase(–) in work in progress
Decrease(+)/increase(–) in accounts receivable
Decrease(+)/increase(–) in current receivables

Investment activities
Acquisition of shares in subsidiaries
Acquisition of intangible assets
Acquisition of tangible fixed assets
Cash flow from investment activities
Financing activities

Cash flow for the year
Translation difference for cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at year end
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Notes
Note 1 General information
OX2 AB, corporate ID number 556675-7497, is a limited
company that is registered in Sweden and has its registered
office in Stockholm. The address of the head office is Lilla
Nygatan 1. The business concept of the company and its
subsidiaries (“OX2”) is to develop, construct and finance wind
power projects in northern Europe.
OX2 Wind AB changed its name to OX2 AB after the end of
the financial year. The parent company OX2 Group AB has
changed its name to Peas Industries AB.

Note 2 Significant accounting policies
The consolidated financial statements for OX2 AB have been
prepared in accordance with the EU-approved International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as well as interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretation
Committee (IFRS IC) for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Furthermore, the Group also applies the Swedish
Council for Financial Reporting’s recommendation RFR 1
Supplementary accounting rules for Groups, which specifies
additions to IFRS information required under the provisions of
the Swedish Annual Accounts Act.
Items have been valued in the consolidated financial
statements at acquisition value, except in the case of certain
financial instruments that are valued at fair value and at
accrued acquisition value. The following is a description of the
most important accounting policies that have been applied.
New and amended standards and interpretations that apply
for 2018:
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement and includes rules for recognition,
classification and measurement, impairment, removal and
general rules for hedge accounting.
IFRS 15 Revenue
The Group is applying IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers as of 1 January 2018. The new standard replaces
IAS 18 Revenue and IAS 11 Construction Contracts with associated interpretation statements. In IFRS 15, recognition of
revenue is based on when control of a product or service is
transferred to the customer, which differs from the approach
in IAS 18 and IAS 11, which is based on when risks and benefits are transferred.
Thus the introduction of IFRS 15 involves a new approach
to how revenue is recognised compared to the current
situation.
Revenue is recognised when the customer obtains control
over the sold product or service, a policy replacing the previous policy whereby revenue was recognised when risks and
benefits were transferred to the purchaser. The basic policy in
IFRS 15 is for a company to recognise a revenue in the
manner that best reflects the transfer of the promised product or service to the customer. This recognition takes place
with the help of a five-step model:

Step 1: identify the contract with the customer
Step 2: identify the various performance commitments in the
contract
Step 3: establish the transaction price
Step 4: distribute the transaction price over the p
 erformance
commitments
Step 5: recognise a revenue when a performance
commitment is fulfilled
This standard also involves increased disclosure
requirements.
OX2 has chosen to apply the forward method on the transition to IFRS 15. This means the Group will not present any
additional disclosures for earlier periods for performance
commitments remaining at the time of the transition. Furthermore, the transition has had no impact on equity.
Other standards, amendments and interpretations that
entered into force for the financial year beginning 1 January
2018 have had no material effect on the consolidated financial statements.
New standards and interpretations that have not yet been
applied by the Group
A number of new standards and interpretations will enter into
force for the financial years beginning after 1 January 2018
and have not been applied in the preparation of this financial
report. None of these are expected to have a material impact
on the consolidated financial statements with the exception
of the following:
IFRS 16 Leasing
IFRS 16 Leasing will replace IAS 17 Leases with associated
interpretation statements as of 1 January 2019. The new
standard requires lessees to recognise assets and liabilities
attributable to all leases, with the exception of agreements
shorter than twelve months and/or relating to small amounts.
In 2018, OX2 AB has performed an analysis of the effects that
the new standard is expected to have on the recognition of
the Group’s leases. Part of this analysis has been to identify
all of the Group’s leases. OX2 has identified the following
significant leases in the analysis:
Rental of premises for which leasing payments in 2018
amounted to SEK 0.9 million.
Besides the above, the Group has identified leases
deemed to be non-significant for the Group. These relate to
the leasing of office equipment, etc. See also Note 7.
Parent company accounting policies
The parent company OX2 AB prepares its annual accounts in
accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act
(1995:1554) and the Swedish Council for Financial Reporting’s
recommendation RFR 2 “Accounting for legal entities”. The
applicable statement from the Swedish Council for Financial
Reporting is also applied. Application of RFR 2 means that the
parent company must apply all EU-approved IFRS standards
as far as possible within the framework of the Swedish Annual
Accounts Act and the Pension Obligations Vesting Act and
take into account the relationship between accounting and
taxation. The parent company does not apply IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments: Accounting and valuation. The parent company
applies a method that is based on the acquisition value in
accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act. This
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means that financial assets are valued at their acquisition
value, less any impairment losses and financial current assets
at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Financial liabilities
are valued at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Principles for recognition and removal of financial
instruments are equivalent to those applicable for the Group
and described above.
No amendments to RFR 2 "Accounting for legal entities”
have affected the parent company financial statements.
Amendments to RFR 2 that have not yet entered into force
No future changes in RFR 2 are expected to have any signi
ficant impact on the parent company financial statements.
Consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts
of the parent company OX2 AB and the companies over which
the parent company has a controlling influence (subsidiaries).
Controlling influence over a company is deemed to occur
when the parent company has influence over a company, is
exposed to or has the right to variable returns from its holding
in the company and has the opportunity to affect the return
through its influence in the company. Subsidiaries are
included in the consolidated accounts from the date on
which the control has been transferred to the Group. They are
excluded from the consolidated accounts from the date on
which the controlling influence ceases. Please refer to Note 15
for the composition of the Group. If the accounting policies
applied in a subsidiary differ from the consolidated accounting policies, the subsidiary’s accounts are adjusted in order to
follow the same principles applied by the other Group companies. Internal transactions between Group companies, as well
as Group balances are eliminated in the preparation of the
consolidated accounts.
Operational acquisitions
The acquisition of subsidiaries is reported in accordance with
the purchase method. The fair value of the acquired assets
and liabilities is determined by the date on which the dominant influence is obtained over the acquired company. The
purchase price for the acquisition consists of the fair value of
the transferred assets, liabilities and any shares issued by the
Group. The fair value of conditional purchase prices is also
included. The acquisition costs are not included in the cost of
the subsidiary company but are expensed in the period in
which they arise. The difference between the total of the
purchase price, the value of the minority holding and the fair
value of the previous holdings and the fair value of acquired
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is
reported as goodwill. In the event of a negative difference,
the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.
The minority shares are recognised either as a proportional
share of the acquired net assets or at fair value, which is
assessed on an acquisition by acquisition basis. Supplementary purchase prices are reported at estimated fair value with
subsequent changes recognised in the income statement.
Phased acquisition is valued at fair value at the date on
which the dominant influence is achieved. Revaluation effects
on previously owned shares before the control is achieved
are recognised in the income statement. Increases or
decreases in ownership shares of subsidiaries that remain
under control are reported as changes in equity.
Investments in associated companies
Holdings in associated companies are reported in accordance with the equity method. An associated company is a
unit in which the Group has a significant, but not a controlling
influence, which is usually achieved by a shareholding of
between 20–50%. Application of the equity method means
that investments in associated companies are reported in the
statement of financial position at cost with additions for
changes of the Group’s share of the associated company’s
net assets and net of any impairment losses and dividends.
The Income Statement reflects the Group’s share of the
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associated company’s profit after tax. Transactions that are
reported in the associated company’s comprehensive
income are reported in the Group’s other total comprehensive income.
If the Group’s share of reported losses in the associated
company exceeds the reported value of the shares in the
Group the value of the shares is reduced to zero. Continued
losses are not recognised unless the Group has given guarantees to cover losses arising in the associated company.
A positive difference between the acquisition value of the
acquired shares and the Group’s share of the fair values of
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired in the associated
company constitutes goodwill that is included in the reported
value of the associated company. If a negative difference
arises, it is reported as revenue in the period in which the
acquisition took place.
Impairment of reported participations in associated companies is considered if there is any indication of a decline in
value. In transactions between Group companies and associated companies, that part of the unrealised gains is eliminated that corresponds to the Group’s share of the associated company. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same
way unless this is an indication of a need for impairment.
Revenues
The revenues in OX2 consist mainly of the sale of wind power
projects and wind power farms.
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers replaced
IAS 18 Revenue and IAS 11 Construction Contracts as of January 2018. IFRS 15 is based on revenue being recognised when
control over a product or service is transferred to the
customer. The revenues in OX2 consist mainly of the sale of
wind power plants. To summarise, the new rules have not
significantly impacted on the way in which OX2 recognises
revenue.
Revenue from contracts with customers
The most common contract type applied by OX2 involves
transfer of project rights and a concluded construction
contract, but sales agreements may also occur where the
customer takes over a commissioned wind power farm when
it is completed. According to IFRS, revenue is to be recognised through fulfilment of OX2’s performance commitment
either over time or at a time.
Revenue from transfer of project rights and a concluded
construction contract
As regards revenue from sales agreements where the
customer takes over the project rights and concludes a
construction contract with OX2, the agreement means that
the customer has taken over the project rights and that OX2
will then perform work that creates or improves an asset
controlled by the customer. This means that the revenue is
recognised at the sale of project rights, and also the time in
accordance with the policy for the percentage of completion
method.
On application of the percentage of completion method,
the revenue is matched to the costs on the basis of the work
carried out up to the balance sheet date. Revenues and costs
are attributed to the accounting period during which the work
is performed.
To determine what result has been developed at a given
time, information is required on the following:
• Revenue must be of such a nature that OX2 can absorb it
in the form of actual invoices or payments
• Costs must be attributable to the recognised revenue
• Degree of completion will be followed up
The percentage of completion method includes an uncertainty component. Unforeseen incidents may occur that
could affect the final result so that it becomes either higher or
lower than expected. Construction projects will be followed
up on an ongoing basis and reservations for any losses will be
made as soon as these are known.

Revenue from the sale of commissioned wind power farms
In cases where the customer does not have control over the
asset until it is completed, the revenue will be recognised at a
time that takes place on completion and handover to the
customer. In accordance with the definition in IFRS 15, OX2
has no alternative use of the sold asset. Thus this contract
structure has not been particularly prevalent for OX2.
Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis
using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate
is the rate at which the net present value of all future inward
and outward payments during the interest period is equal to
the carrying amount of the receivable.
Leasing contracts
A financial lease is an agreement whereby the financial risks
and benefits associated with ownership of an object to all
material extent are transferred from the lessor to the lessee.
Other leasing contracts are classified as operational leasing
agreements.
The Group as the lessee
Assets that are held under financial lease agreements are
reported as fixed assets in the consolidated Balance Sheet at
fair value at the inception of the lease or at the present value
of the minimum lease payments, if this is lower. The corresponding liability to the lessor is recognised in the Balance
Sheet as a financial lease liability.
Lease payments should be apportioned between the
interest rate and the amortisation of the debt. The interest
rate is distributed over the term of the lease so that each
accounting period is charged with an amount corresponding
to a fixed interest rate on the liability for each period. The
interest expense is recognised directly in the Income
Statement.
An asset held under a finance lease is depreciated over
the estimated useful life of the asset, as above, or over the
leasing period if this is shorter. Lease payments under operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease
term unless another systematic basis is more representative
of the user’s financial benefit over time.
Foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate that is in force on
the day of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate in force on the balance
sheet date. Exchange rate differences arising from translation
are reported in the Income Statement. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are reported at their historical acquisition
values are translated at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
recognised at fair value are converted to the functional
currency at the rate in effect at the time of the fair value
valuation.
Exchange rate differences are recognised in the Income
Statement in the period in which they arise, with the exception of transactions forming hedges that satisfy the conditions for hedge accounting of cash flow or of net investments,
when gains and losses are recognised in equity.
Financial statements for foreign operations
Items included in the financial statements of the various entities of the Group are recognised in the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the unit operates
primarily (functional currency). In the consolidated financial
statements, all amounts are translated into Swedish kronor
(SEK), which is the parent company’s functional and presentation currency.

Assets and liabilities in foreign operations, including goodwill
and other Group surplus and deficit values, are translated
from the functional currency to the reporting currency of the
Group, Swedish kronor, using the exchange rate on the
balance sheet date. Income and expenses in foreign operations are translated into SEK at an average exchange rate
comprising an approximation of the exchange rates in effect
at the respective transaction dates. Translation differences
arising from currency translation of foreign operations are
reported in the comprehensive income result and accumulated in a separate component of equity, hereinafter referred
to as the translation reserve. In the event of disposal of a
foreign operation, the accumulated translation difference
attributable to the divested foreign operation is reclassified
from equity to the profit for the year as a reclassification
adjustment at the time the gain or loss on the sale is
reported.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that necessarily
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended
use or sale, are included in the acquisition value of the asset
until the time when the asset is ready for its intended use or
sale. Interest income from the temporary placement of
borrowed funds for the above asset is deducted from the
borrowing costs that may be included in the acquisition cost
of the asset. Other borrowing costs are charged to earnings
for the period to which they relate.
Remuneration to employees
Remuneration to employees in the form of wages, paid leave,
sick leave, etc., as well as pensions, is reported as earnings.
With regard to pensions and other post-employment benefits,
these are classified as defined contribution plans or defined
benefit pension plans. The Group only has defined contribution pension plans.
Defined contribution plans
For defined contribution plans, the company pays fixed
contributions to a separate independent legal entity and has
no obligation to pay further contributions. Costs are charged
against consolidated earnings as the benefits are earned,
which normally coincides with the time at which the premiums are paid.
Taxes
The tax cost is the total of current tax and deferred tax.
Current tax
Current tax is calculated on the taxable profit in the period.
Taxable profit differs from the reported results in the Income
Statement when it has been adjusted for non-taxable income
and non-deductible expenses and for income and costs that
are taxable or deductible in other periods. The Group’s
current tax liability is calculated according to the rates that
have been adopted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date.
Deferred tax
Deferred tax is accounted for on the difference between the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the tax value used in the calculation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax is reported in accordance with the
Balance Sheet method. Deferred tax liabilities are recognised
in principle for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised in principle for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
the amounts can be utilised for future taxable surpluses.
Deferred tax liabilities and receivables are not recognised if
the temporary difference is attributable to goodwill or if it
occurs as a consequence of a transaction that constitutes
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the initial recognition of an asset or liability (which is not a
business acquisition) and that, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.
The deferred tax liability is recognised for taxable temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and
associated companies, except in the cases where the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that such a reversal will not
occur in the foreseeable future. The deferred tax liabilities that
are attributable to the deductible temporary differences in
respect of such investments and interests is only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the amounts can be
utilised against future taxable surpluses and it is probable that
such a use will take place in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is tested at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available for use in whole or in part against the deferred tax asset.
Deferred tax is calculated in accordance with the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
recovered or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at balance sheet date.
Current and deferred taxes are offset when they relate to
income tax that is levied by the same authority and the Group
intends to regulate the tax with a net amount.
Current and deferred tax for the period
Current and deferred tax is reported as a cost or revenue in
the Income Statement, except when the tax is attributable to
transactions recognised directly in equity. In such cases, tax
is also recognised directly in equity.
Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets and intangible assets with finite useful
life are reported at acquisition value with deductions for
accumulated depreciation and impairment. The cost includes
the purchase price and costs directly attributable to bringing
the asset to the location and in the condition for use in
accordance with the purpose of the acquisition. Borrowing
costs are included in the acquisition value when the criteria
for this are met. Tangible fixed assets comprising parts with
different useful lives are regarded as being separate components of tangible fixed assets.
Subsequent expenditure is added to the acquisition value
only if it is probable that the future financial benefits associated with the asset will flow to the company and the cost can
be calculated in a reliable way. All other subsequent expenditure should be recognised as an expense in the period in
which it arises. A subsequent expenditure is added to the
acquisition value if the cost relates to the replacement of
identified components or parts thereof. Any residual reported
values for replaced components are scrapped and expensed
in the context of the replacement. Expenditure for repairs and
maintenance is expensed on an ongoing basis.
Depreciation is based on the acquisition value of the
assets with a deduction for estimated residual value at the
end of its useful life and is reported on a straight line basis
over the estimated useful life of the respective essential
component. The useful life of all the components of the wind
turbines, foundations and electrical installations is expected
to coincide, which is why no further breakdown has taken
place. Useful lives and residual values are subject to annual
review.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Equipment
4–7 years
Intangible assets
5–10 years
Gains or losses that occur during scrapping or disposal of
material fixed assets make up the intermediate difference
between what has been received for the asset and its
carrying value and is reported in operating profit.
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Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired in a company acquisition are identified and reported separately from goodwill when they meet
the definition of an intangible asset and their fair values can
be calculated in a reliable way. The acquisition value of such
intangible assets consists of their fair value at the date of
acquisition.
After initial recognition, intangible assets that are acquired
through a company acquisition are reported at acquisition
value less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment in the same way as separately acquired intangible
assets.
Impairment
At each balance sheet date, the Group analyses the reported
values of tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that these assets have decreased in
value. If there are any indications in this respect, the recovery
value of the asset is calculated in order to determine the size
of any impairment. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group calculates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. In addition, intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives are impairment tested each year as well
as intangible assets that are not yet available for use.
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value minus
the acquisition cost and beneficial value. When calculating
the beneficial value the estimated future cash flow is
discounted to current value at a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash generating unit) is set at a lower value than the reported value, the
reported value of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is
reduced to the recovery value. An impairment is recognised
directly in the Income Statement. If an impairment is then
subsequently reversed, the carrying amount of the asset (the
cash-generating unit) is increased to the revalued asset
recovery value, but the increased carrying amount may not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been set if no
impairment of the asset (the cash-generating unit) had taken
place in previous years. A reversal of an impairment is recognised directly in the Income Statement. Impairment of goodwill is not reversed.
Financial instruments
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised in the
Balance Sheet when the company becomes a party to the
instrument’s contractual terms. A financial asset is removed
from the Balance Sheet when the contractual rights have
been realised, mature or when the company loses control
over it. A financial liability is removed from the Balance Sheet
when the obligation in the contract is fulfilled or it becomes
otherwise extinct.
At each balance sheet date the company assesses
whether there are objective indications that a financial asset
or group of financial assets, which are not valued at fair value
with changes in value recognised in profit or loss, require
impairment due to past events.
Financial instruments are reported at accrued acquisition
value or at fair value, depending on their initial assignment
under IAS 39.
Fair value of financial instruments
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined according to the following: The fair value of financial assets and liabilities with standard terms and conditions
which are traded in an active market is determined in reference to the quoted market price.
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is determined in accordance with generally accepted valuation
models, for example models based on discounted cash flow
analyses. Observable market data is used as far as possible in
the valuation methods applied. The carrying value of financial

assets and liabilities is considered to be a good approximation
of their fair value, when the term is short, unless otherwise
indicated in the following notes to the accounts.
Derivatives and hedge accounting
All derivatives are recognised at fair value and recognised as
either assets or liabilities in the Balance Sheet, depending on
whether the fair value is positive or negative at the balance
sheet date. Reporting of the changes in value is dependent
on whether the derivative is identified as a hedging instrument or not.
If a derivative is identified as a hedging instrument in a
cash flow hedge, the effective portion of the changes in the
derivative’s fair value is reported in other comprehensive
income and is accumulated in the hedge reserve in equity.
The ineffective portion of a cash flow hedge is recognised
directly in the consolidated results. Amounts attributed to
equity are reversed in the consolidated results during the
periods when the hedged item affects the consolidated
result.
Valuation at fair value
Information must be given about the method for determination of fair value in accordance with a three-level valuation
hierarchy. The levels should reflect the extent to which the fair
value is based on observable market data and own assumptions. The following describes the various levels for the determination of fair value.
Level 1
Financial instruments for which fair value is determined on
the basis of observable (unadjusted) quoted market prices in
an active market for identical assets and liabilities. A market is
considered to be active if listed prices from a stock exchange,
broker, industrial group, pricing service or supervisory authority are readily and regularly available and these prices represent real and regularly occurring market transactions at arm’s
length.
Level 2
Financial instruments for which fair value is determined on
the basis of valuation models that are based on other observable data for the asset or liability other than the quoted prices
included in level 1, either directly (i.e. price quotations) or indirectly (i.e. derived from quotations). Examples of observable
data within level 2 are data that can be used as a basis for
the price assessment, for example market interest rates and
yield curves.
Level 3
Financial instruments for which fair value is determined on
the basis of valuation models where substantial input is based
on non-observable data.
Determining fair value
Currency forward contracts
The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined
from the current forward rates for the remaining term at the
balance sheet date. All forward exchange contracts are
assigned at level 2 in the fair value hierarchy above. The fair
value of currency options is determined using the Black
Scholes model, that is obtained on a quarterly basis. These
are assigned at level 2 in the fair value hierarchy above.
Offsetting financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and recognised as
net amounts in the Balance Sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset and when the intention is to
regulate the items with a net amount or at the same time to
realise the asset and settle the liability. No offsets have been
made of the financial assets and liabilities in the Group, nor is
there any legal right to offset.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank balances
and other short-term investments that can be easily
converted into cash and are subject to insignificant risk of
changes in value. In order to be classified as cash and cash
equivalents, maturity may not exceed three months from the
date of acquisition. Cash and bank balances are categorised
as “Loans and receivables”, which means valuation at
accrued acquisition value. Because funds in banks are available on demand, the accrued acquisition value is equal to the
nominal value.
Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are categorised as “Loans and receivables”, which means valuation at accrued acquisition value.
The expected maturity of accounts receivables is short,
which is why they are reported at nominal amounts without
discounting. Deductions are made for receivables that have
been deemed to be uncertain. Impairment of accounts
receivable is reported as operating expenses.
Accounts payable
Accounts payable are categorised as “Other financial
liabilities”, which means valuation at accrued acquisition
value. The expected maturity of accounts payable is short,
which is why they are reported at nominal amounts without
discounting.
Liabilities to credit institutions and other loan liabilities
Interest-bearing bank loans, bank overdrafts and other loans
are categorised as "Other financial liabilities" and are measured at amortised cost in accordance with the effective interest rate method. Any differences between the loan amount
received (net after transaction costs) and the payment or
repayment of loans over the duration of the loans are
reported in accordance with the consolidated accounting
policy for borrowing costs (see above).
Provisions
Provisions are reported when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount
can be made.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the expenditure required to settle the present o
 bligation at
the balance sheet date, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties associated with the obligation. When a provision
is calculated by estimating the expenditure expected to be
required to settle the obligation, the carrying amount must be
equal to the present value of these payments.
Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a
provision is expected to be paid by a third party, the payment
must be reported separately as an asset on the Balance
Sheet when it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be
received if the company settles the obligation and the
amount can be calculated in a reliable way.
Accounting policies for the parent company
The parent company OX2 AB prepares its annual accounts in
accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act (1995:1554)
and the Swedish Council for Financial Reporting’s recommendation RFR 2 “Accounting for legal entities”. The differences
between the parent company’s and Group’s accounting
principles are described below:
Shares in subsidiaries
Shares in subsidiaries are accounted for in accordance with
the acquisition value method. Acquisition-related costs to
subsidiaries that are expensed in the consolidated f inancial
statements are included as part of the acquisition value of
shares in subsidiaries. The carrying amount of shares in
subsidiaries is tested for impairment when there is an indication of need for impairment.
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Group contributions and shareholder contributions
Shareholder contributions are recognised directly in the
equity of the recipient and reported against shares and
participations from the provider, in so far as impairment is not
required.
Group contributions between the parent company and
subsidiaries are reported as year-end dispositions.
Leasing
In the parent company, all leasing agreements are reported in
accordance with the regulations for operational leasing.

Note 3 Estimates and assessments
in the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements are based on various
estimates and assessments made by management that
affect the application of the accounting policies and the
carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and costs.
Assessments that are made may deviate from future results.
The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on a regular
basis. The effects of changes in estimates are reported in the
period in which the change is made if the change affects that
period only, or in the period of the change and future periods,
if the change affects both the current period and future
periods.
Intra-group restructuring
The Group has undergone intra-group restructuring over the
year, adding companies to OX2’s group structure. The Group’s
assessment is that the restructure does not constitute an
operational acquisition, which is why no acquisition analysis
has been compiled for the added companies. The acquisition
is recognised in the consolidated financial statements on the
basis of an original acquisition analysis.
Impairment of fixed assets
Determination of whether the fixed asset should be impaired
or not requires an assessment of the recoverable value. The
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s beneficial
value or fair value less sales costs. The calculation of the
beneficial value requires estimates of future cash flows and
the discount rate. Naturally enough, such assessments
always entail a certain degree of uncertainty.
The assessment of the degree of completion for the
percentage of completion method
The Group applies the percentage of completion method in
accounting for the projects that are sold as construction
contracts. The percentage of completion method means that
the Group must make estimates in respect of the completion
of the transaction at the balance sheet date.
Reporting cash flows at the acquisition and sale of companies
The cash flow effects arising from the sale and acquisition of
companies related to projects in the form of a company are
recognised as changes in operating capital in the consolidated cash flow analysis. The cash flow effects arising from
the sales and acquisitions of companies for which the
purpose is not to package a project is recognised as changes
in investment activities in the consolidated cash flow analysis,
in accordance with IAS 7.
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Note 4 Financial risk management and
financial instruments
Financial policy
Through its operations, OX2 is exposed to various financial
risks in the form of market risks, which include currency and
interest rate risks, credit and financial risks. The Group’s overall risk management policy focuses on the unpredictability of
the financial markets and strives to minimise potentially
adverse effects on the Group’s financial results. Risk management is performed in accordance with the financial policy
adopted by the Board of Peas Industries. The Board has
established written policies for both the overall risk management and for specific areas such as currency risk, interest
risk, counterparty risk and the investment of surplus liquidity.
Market risks
Introduction
OX2’s main business model is to sell commissioned wind
power plants. Consequently, most market risks are indirect,
i.e. OX2’s customers may manage risks and OX2 suffers
indirectly via reduced demand and/or lower sales prices.
Currency risks
Sales of projects are primarily in EUR, which involves a
currency risk. When evaluating the currency risk, projects’
total inflows and outflows in foreign currency are taken into
account. Wind turbines are primarily ordered from European
suppliers in EUR, which means a natural hedge against sales
in EUR. The currency risk for each project is handled in a way
which meets requirements from the policy in respect of risk
minimisation, adapted to the conditions of the particular
project. The Group’s total currency exposure is taken into
account when hedging each project.
Given the 2018 flows and no hedge, a change in the EUR/
SEK exchange rate of SEK 0.10 would influence the result with
SEK +/– 5.2 million (+/– 5.3). In the case of a change to the
EUR/SEK exchange rate of SEK 0.10 at the end of the year, the
impact on equity is expected to amount to approximately
SEK +/– 5.9 million (+/– 8.5) given the currency hedging that
has been recognised via equity.
Interest rate risk
The Group has outstanding loans of EUR 41 million with a fixed
interest rate of 2% for project financing, which thus has no
sensitivity to any change in interest rates.
The Group is also affected by the interest component in
the currency derivatives forward rate included in the hedges
for currency risks: see also the section entitled Currency
risks. A +/– 0.01 change in the forward rate on the opening of
the term in question would have meant an a
 dditional cost of
SEK –/+ 0.8 million (0.9), based on current forward foreign
exchange contracts in 2018.
Investments
The Group’s cash flow generated from operating activities and
from the sales of project/operational wind turbines will be
used for the development of new projects and the financing
of ongoing activities. Surplus liquidity will be invested with
counterparties that have high credit ratings and thus low
credit risk. Given the 2018 figures, a reduction of revenue
interest to 0 per cent would lead to a reduction of interest
income of approx. SEK 0.2 million (0.0). OX2 has not paid
negative interest on funds in its other bank accounts.

Note 4 F
 inancial risk management and financial instruments, continued
Price risk for electricity
The future settlement price for electricity is the single most
important parameter in the customer’s investment calculations. Thus, OX2’s activities in both the short and the long
term are affected by how the futures market for electricity
develops. OX2 follows the market carefully in order to understand how the market works and how it is linked to the prices
of other types of energy, economic activity etc. Fluctuations
in the price of electricity thereby affect the Group’s potential
customers.

Liquidity and financing risk
Liquidity risk is understood to be the risk that the Group can
be adversely affected by the lack of management and control
of cash and cash equivalents and cash flows. Financing risk is
the risk that the Group is not able to mobilise sufficient funds
to meet its commitments. OX2 is constantly working with cash
flow forecasts and with respect to wind turbines sold to
customers as operational, the company aims to match
payment plans from customers with those that the company
has with the most important suppliers in the respective
projects.
Maturity distribution of the contractual payment obligations
related to the Group’s and parent company’s financial assets
and liabilities is shown in the tables below.

Group
(SEK thousand)
Assets
Accounts receivable
Other current receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total
Liabilities

2018

2017

0–3 months

3–12 months

1–5 years

Total

350,406

–

–

350,406

0–3 months 3–12 months

1–5 years

Total

36,747

–

–

36,747

27,813

–

–

27,813

25,235

–

–

25,235

706,641

–

–

706,641

643,328

–

–

643,328

1,084,860

–

–

1,084,860

705,310

–

–

705,310

0–3 months 3–12 months

0–3 months

3–12 months

1–5 years

Total

1–5 years

Total

Other long-term liabilities

–

–

424,519

424,519

–

–

337

337

Derivative instruments1

–

15,685

–

15,685

–

451

–

451

121,910

–

–

121,910

84,456

–

–

84,456

Accounts payable
Other current liabilities
Total

–

129,359

–

129,359

–

299,765

–

299,765

121,910

145,044

424,519

691,473

84,456

300,216

337

385,009

0–3 months

3–12 months

1–5 years

Total

2,389

–

–

2,389

Parent company
(SEK thousand)
Assets
Accounts receivable

2018

2017
0–3 months 3–12 months
8,796

–

1–5 years

Total

–

8,796
271,283

–

458,962

–

458,962

–

271,283

–

9,491

–

–

9,491

7,154

–

–

7,154

Cash and cash equivalents

263,244

–

–

263,244

80,232

–

–

80,232

Total

275,124

458,962

–

734,086

96,182

271,283

–

367,465

0–3 months

3–12 months

1–5 years

Total

0–3 months 3–12 months

1–5 years

Total

30,754

–

–

30,754

–

44,691

Liabilities to Group companies

–

273,750

–

133,287

Other current liabilities

–

50,541

–

30,754

324,291

–

Receivables from Group companies
Other current receivables

Liabilities
Accounts payable

Total
1)

44,691

–

273,750

–

133,287

–

50,541

–

30,915

–

30,915

355,045

44,691

164,202

–

208,893

Belongs to category 2.

Credit and counterparty risk
Credit risk is the risk that the respondent cannot fulfil its contractual obligations to the Group, resulting in a financial loss.
External purchasers assume part of the OX2 Group’s credit risk in connection with the sale of wind turbines. The proportion
which the external purchasers assume depends on whether delivery has been made or not. External purchasers can provide
security for their obligations through the OX2 Group. Furthermore, the purchaser makes an advance payment in accordance
with a payment plan.
The Group and the parent company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying values of all financial
assets and is shown in the table below.
Group
Amounts in SEK thousand
Accounts receivable
Receivables from Group companies
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Maximum exposure to credit risk

Parent company

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

350,406

36,747

2,389

8,796

–

–

458,962

271,283

27,813

25,235

9,491

7,154

706,641

643,328

263,244

80,232

1,084,860

705,310

734,086

367,465
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Note 4 Financial risk management and financial instruments, continued
Categorisation of financial instruments
The carrying value of financial assets and financial liabilities, divided per evaluation category in accordance with IAS 39, is
shown in the table below.
Group
Amounts in SEK thousand

Parent company

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

350,406

36,747

2,389

8,796

–

–

458,962

271,283

Financial assets
Loans and receivables1
Accounts receivable
Receivables from Group companies
Other current receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total financial assets

27,813

25,235

9,491

7,154

706,641

643,328

263,244

80,232

1,084,860

705,310

734,086

367,465

15,685

451

–

–

424,519

337

–

–

–

–

273,750

133,287

Financial liabilities
Derivatives identified as hedging instruments
Derivatives2
Other financial liabilities1
Other long-term liabilities
Liabilities to Group companies
Accounts payable

121,910

84,456

30,754

44,691

Other current liabilities

129,359

299,765

50,541

30,915

Total financial liabilities

691,473

385,009

355,045

208,893

1)
2)

Valued at accrued acquisition value.
Belongs to category 2.

Discounting has no significant effect on short-term financial instruments. Our assessment is that there are no significant
changes to the credit risk, which is why the fair value and carrying value of our long-term liabilities are considered to be
essentially the same. There has been no reclassification between the valuation categories above during the period.
Management of capital risks
The Group’s target for the management of the capital is to secure the Group’s ability to continue its activities so that the Group
can continue to generate a reasonable return to the shareholders and deliver benefits to other stakeholders. The Group
strategy is not to have any debt apart from financing of inventory, accounts receivable and projects.

Note 5 Revenue
The Group’s revenue mainly comprises sales of wind power projects and commissioned wind power farms.
The Group normally recognises revenue over time, and in certain cases at a specific time.
(SEK thousand)
Net revenue per category

Group

Parent company

2018

2017

2018

2017

Sales of wind power projects and wind power farms

4,135,513

2,152,503

313,963

309,044

Total

4,135,513

2,152,503

313,963

309,044

(SEK thousand)
Revenue by country1
Sweden

Group
2018

2017

3,023,522

718,441

Finland

191,056

987,620

Norway

920,935

446,442

4,135,513

2,152,503

Total
1) The revenue by country is based on where projects are located.

(SEK thousand)
Time of revenue recognition
At a certain time

Group
2018

2017

2,375

880,620

Over time

4,133,138

1,271,883

Total

4,135,513

2,152,503

The following table shows the total amount of the transaction price distributed over the performance commitments that are
unfulfilled (or partly unfulfilled) at the end of the reporting period.
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Note 5 Revenue, cont.
(SEK thousand)
Contract assets

Group
2018

2017

Ongoing work in progress on behalf of others
(see also Note 16)

16,785

229,008

Accrued income (see also Note 18)

28,691

87,303

Total

45,476

316,311

of which
Long-term assets

–

–

Current assets

45,476

316,311

Total

45,476

316,311

The following table shows how much of the recognised revenue for the period is attributable to advance payments received
that were included in recognised contract liabilities at the start of the year. No revenue has been recognised during the year
that is attributable to fulfilled performance commitments in earlier periods.
(SEK thousand)
Contract liabilities
Advance payments from customers (see also Note 24)
Prepaid income (see also Note 26)
Total

Group
2018

2017

199,900

483,728

–

–

199,900

483,728

of which
Long-term liabilities

–

–

Current liabilities

199,900

483,728

Total

199,900

483,728

Note 6 Information about auditor fees and reimbursement
Group
(SEK thousand)

2018

Parent company
2017

2018

2017

936

481

413

116

50

335

0

58

139

365

113

216

1,125

1,181

526

390

Deloitte AB
Audit tasks
Audit work in addition to audit tasks
Tax advice
Total

The audit fee refers to the auditor’s remuneration for the statutory audit. The work involves the examination of the annual
report and accounts, the Board of Directors and the CEO’s management and the remuneration for advice given in the context
of the audit task. The audit activity in addition to the audit task is mainly concerned with quality assurance services other than
the statutory audit.

Note 7 Leasing
Operational leasing
The parent company’s operational leasing concerns office machinery and rent for office premises. The annual cost of
operational leasing agreements amounts to KSEK 671 (893) for the parent company. The Group’s operational leasing concerns
office machinery and rent for office premises. The agreements include index clauses that mean that rent is subject to price
adjustment according to the CPI. The annual cost of operational leasing contracts amounts to KSEK 961 (905) in respect of the
Group. At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, with due
dates as follows:
Group
(SEK thousand)

Parent company

2018

2017

2018

2017

Year 1

1,578

2,415

671

956

Between 2 and 5 years

1,226

772

–

793

–

–

–

–

2,804

3,187

671

1,749

Later than 5 years
Total
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Note 8	Number of employees, salaries, other remuneration
and social security expenses
2018
Average number of employees

2017

Number of
employees

Of whom
men

Number of
employees

Of whom
men
20.5

Parent company
Sweden

35

27

26

Finland

5

4

4

3.5

France

1.5

1.5

0.5

0.5

Germany

1.5

1.5

0.5

0.5

Total in parent company

43

34

31

25

Sweden

10

9

9

8

Total in subsidiaries

10

9

9

8

Total in Group

53

43

40

33

Subsidiaries

Group

Parent company

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Board members

1

–

1

–

other people in the management of the Company,
incl. CEO

–

–

–

–

3

2

3

2

The distribution of senior management at balance sheet
date
Women:

Men:
Board members
other people in the management of the Company,
incl. CEO
Total

1

1

1

1

5

3

5

3

2018
(SEK thousand)
Salaries, remuneration, etc.

Salaries and other
remuneration

Parent company

2017

Soc. costs
(of which
pension costs)

Salaries and other
remuneration

19,948

31,275

44,542

Soc. costs
(of which
pension costs)
12,724

(6,305)
Subsidiaries

9,383

3,896

(3,016)
6,538

3,046

(1,060)
Total for Group

53,925

(2,298)

23,844

37,813

The Board and CEO
(of which
bonuses, etc.)

Other employees

The Board and CEO
(of which
bonuses, etc.)

Other employees

7,150

37,392

6,717

24,558

2018
Salaries and remuneration divided between
Board members etc. and employees
Parent company

2017

(5,000)
Subsidiaries

–

(5,000)
9,383

(–)
Total in subsidiaries
Total in Group

–

6,538

(–)

–

9,383

–

6,538

7,150

46,775

6,717

31,096

(5,000)

Remuneration to senior executives
No fee is paid to Board members.

15,770

(5,000)

Bonus
A profit-based bonus for 2018 has been reserved for all
employees amounting to a total of KSEK 13,834 (10,737).

Pension premiums may amount to a maximum of 35% of the
pensionable salary. The pensionable salary is the basic salary.
The retirement age for other senior management is 65.
Pension premiums for other senior management are individually agreed and are usually a maximum of 26% of the pensionable salary.

Pensions
The Group only has defined contribution pension plans.
Pension cost relates to the cost that will affect earnings for
the year.

Severance pay
For senior executives, the period of notice is 3 to 6 months.
There are no agreements regarding severance pay for senior
executives.
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Note 9 Financial income
Group

Parent company

(SEK thousand)

2018

2017

2018

Interest income

436

29

–

2

–

–

88

–

Exchange rate gains

45,082

26,204

1,853

400

Total financial income

45,518

26,233

1,941

402

Interest income from Group companies

2017

All interest income relates in its entirety to financial assets that are not assessed at fair value via the Income Statement.

Note 10 Financial costs
Group
(SEK thousand)

Parent company

2018

2017

2018

2017

–24

–1

–2

–1

–

–12

–

–

Exchange rate losses

–24,182

–15,872

–2,712

–558

Total financial costs

–24,206

–15,885

–2,714

–559

External interest costs
Interest costs leasing debt

All interest costs relate in their entirety to financial liabilities that are not assessed at fair value via the Income Statement.

Note 11 Year-end appropriations
Parent company
(SEK thousand)
Group contributions received/given
Provision to tax allocation reserve
Excess depreciation
Total financial costs

2018

2017

14,435

–109,399

–34,000

–11,000

–

–131

–19,565

–120,530
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Note 12 Taxes
Reported tax expense
(SEK thousand)

Group

Parent company

2018

2017

2018

2017

–30,678

–12,711

–23,759

–7,487

–4

–1

–4

–

Current tax
Tax cost for the year
Adjustments recognised in the current year in respect
of earlier years’ current tax
Deferred tax
Tax attributable to deficits
Temporary differences
Tax allocation fund
Tax allocation reserve
Total reported tax cost

–

–24

–

–

8,591

–

–

–

–9,680

–4,070

–

–

–

–29

–

–

–31,771

–16,835

–23,763

–7,487

Income tax in Sweden is calculated at 22% on the year’s taxable profit. In Finland, the corresponding rate is 20%.
A reconciliation between the reported results and the tax cost for the year is given below.
Deferred tax is calculated in accordance with the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
recovered or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at
balance sheet date.
Group
(SEK thousand)

Parent company

2018

2017

2018

2017

Profit for the year before tax

133,892

67,124

187,336

33,433

Tax calculated in accordance with the Swedish tax rate

–29,456

–14,767

–41,214

–7,355
–86

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses

–2,344

–1,895

–145

Tax effect of non-taxable revenues

7

1,264

17,600

1

Tax effect of deficits

–

–24

–

–

26

–1,356

–

–

–

–56

–

–45

Tax effect of Group adjustment items
Tax effect of branches
Tax attributable to prev. years
Total reported tax cost for the year

–4

–1

–4

–1

–31,771

–16,835

–23,763

–7,487

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

–17,456

–7,776

Group
Deferred tax assets/tax liabilities
Tax allocation fund
Temporary differences

9,591

–

Financial instruments

1,915

99

Tax allocation reserve
Total
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–29

–29

–5,978

–7,705

Note 13 Other intangible fixed assets
Group
(SEK thousand)

Parent company

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

725

690

725

690

42,573

35

–

35

–35

–

–35

–

43,263

725

690

725

Opening depreciation

–321

–180

–321

–180

Depreciation according to plan

–127

–141

–127

–141

9

–

9

–

–439

–321

–439

–321

42,824

404

251

404

Opening acquisition values
Purchases
Disposals for the year
Closing acc. acquisition values

Disposals for the year
Closing acc. depreciation
Closing residual value according to plan

Estimated utilisation period for intangible fixed assets is 5 to 10 years.

Note 14 Equipment
Group
(SEK thousand)

Parent company

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

9,288

9,157

9,288

9,157

Purchases

212

131

130

131

Impairment

–33

–

–33

–

–5,438

–

–5,438

–

4,029

9,288

3,947

9,288

–9,140

–9,118

–9,140

–9,118

–35

–22

–35

–22

5,438

–

5,438

–

–3,737

–9,140

–3,737

–9,140

292

148

210

148

Opening acquisition values

Disposals for the year
Closing acc. acquisition values
Opening depreciation
Depreciation according to plan
Disposals for the year
Closing acc. depreciation
Closing residual value according to plan

Financial leasing agreements
The Group’s financial leasing agreements relate to the leasing of 11 (6) cars.
Group
(SEK thousand)

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Opening acquisition values

1,303

2,122

Purchases

1,843

–

–1,303

–819

Closing acc. acquisition values

1,843

1,303

Opening depreciation

–770

–1,028

Sales

Sales
Depreciation according to plan
Closing acc. depreciation

926

559

–337

–301

–181

–770

Closing residual value according to plan

1,662

533

Total equipment

1,954

681

Future leasing charges for finance leases with a remaining term:
Group
31/12/2018
(SEK thousand)

31/12/2017

Nominal

Current value

Nominal

Current value

Less than 1 year

371

354

201

191

Longer than 1 year but not more than 5 years

542

484

–

–

–

–

–

–

913

838

201

191

Longer than 5 years
Total
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Note 15 Participations in Group companies
Parent company
(SEK thousand)

31/12/2018

Opening acquisition value
Purchases
Sales

31/12/2017

1,252

627

263

1,052

–

–427

1,515

1,252

Number of
shares

Capital
share, %

Carrying value
(SEK thousand)
2018

Carrying value
(SEK thousand)
2017

OX2 Construction AB

1,000

100%

100

100

OX2 Wind Production AB

1,000

100%

100

100

OX2 Wind Finland AB

1,000

100%

270

270

OX2 Wind International AB

1,000

100%

782

782

1

100%

263

–

1,515

1,252

Closing acquisition value

The Group contains the following subsidiaries:

Company name

OX2 Wind Deutschland GmbH
Total

Equity incl.
net profit
for the year

Profit
24,047

Company name

Corp. ID no.

Registered office

OX2 Construction AB

556807-5252

Stockholm

60,508

OX2 Wind Production AB

556773-3877

Stockholm

103,631

15,739

OX2 Wind Finland AB

556928-0109

Stockholm

16,554

–3,586

OX2 Wind International AB

556967-5746

Stockholm

777

6

OX2 Wind Deutschland GmbH

HRB 151942

Hamburg

413

9

All subsidiaries are consolidated in the Group. The percentage of voting rights in the subsidiaries that are directly owned by the
parent company does not differ from the percentage of ordinary shares owned.
Total ownership of holdings without a controlling influence amounts to SEK 0 (0) for the period.

Note 16 Work in progress on behalf of others
Group
(SEK thousand)

Parent company

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

–

226,542

–

–

Ponsivuori

99,953

–

–

–

Ribäcken

68,474

–

–

–

Verhonkulma

44,933

–

–

–

Långmossa

41,421

2,466

–

–

Orrberget

16,785

–

–

–

Halsua

10,408

–

–

–

Kröpuln

2,160

1,880

–

–

Miscellaneous clauses

8,381

–

–

–

Closing reported value

292,515

230,888

–

–

Yxpila

Ongoing work refers to the costs incurred for each project.
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Note 17 Accounts receivable
Group
(SEK thousand)
Accounts receivable, gross
Provision for doubtful debts
Total accounts receivable, net of the provision
for doubtful debts

Parent company

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

350,406

36,747

2,389

8,796

–

–

–

–

350,406

36,747

2,389

8,796

Management assesses that the reported value for accounts receivable, net of the provision for doubtful debts, conforms with
the fair value.
(SEK thousand)

31/12/2018

Group
Age analysis of accounts receivables

31/12/2017

Gross

Reserve doubtful
Acc. receivable

348,317
–

Due 31–60 days
Due 61–90 days

Not due
Due 30 days

Due > 90 days
Total
(SEK thousand)

Gross

Reserve doubtful
Acc. receivable

–

8,799

–

–

27,948

–

132

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,957

–

–

–

350,406

–

36,747

–

31/12/2018

Parent company
Age analysis of accounts receivables
Not due

31/12/2017

Gross

Reserve doubtful
Acc. receivable

Gross

Reserve doubtful
Acc. receivable

2,389

–

8,796

–

Due 30 days

–

–

–

–

Due 31–60 days

–

–

–

–

Due 61–90 days

–

–

–

–

Due > 90 days

–

–

–

–

2,389

–

8,796

–

Total

Note 18 Prepaid expenses and accrued income
Group
(SEK thousand)

Parent company

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Other prepaid costs

711

186

647

134

Prepaid rent

170

170

159

170

160,127

370,523

–

–

27,743

85,858

–

–

948

1,445

253

89

189,699

458,182

1,059

393

Prepaid construction costs
Accrued project revenue
Other accrued revenue
Total

Note 19 Share capital development
Date of registration with
Swedish Companies
Registration Office

Event

02/02/2005

The company was registered

Change, share
capital SEK

Total share
capital, SEK

No. of A shares/
change

No. of B shares/
change

Quotient
value

100,000

100,000

10,000

–

10

100,000

10,000

–

10

Share capital: 10,000 shares at a quota value of SEK 10 divided into 10,000 series A shares, 0 Series B shares and no preferential shares.

Note 20 Translation reserve and hedging reserve
Translation reserve
The translation reserve includes exchange rate differences arising from the translation of the financial statements from the
subsidiaries and branches that have prepared their financial statements in euros or Norwegian kroner.
Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve includes the effective portion of the accumulated net change in the fair value of a cash flow instrument
attributable to hedging transactions that have not yet occurred.
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Note 21 Untaxed reserves
Parent company
(SEK thousand)

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Tax allocation reserve 17

8,713

8,713

Tax allocation reserve 18

11,000

11,000

Tax allocation reserve 19

34,000

–

131

131

53,844

19,844

Excess depreciation
Total

Note 22 Long-term liabilities
Group
(SEK thousand)
Due for payment 2 to 5 years after balance sheet date:
Financial leasing
Total

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

423,228

–

1,291

337

424,519

337

Note 23 Derivative instruments
Currency forward contracts
(SEK thousand)

Group
31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Change in value of currency hedging as at 31/12/2018

–15,685

–979

Total

–15,685

–979

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Outstanding forward exchange contracts
Expiration year 2018

EUR

EUR

Amount (EUR thousand)

–

45,800

Average contract rate

–

9.694

Forward rate as at 31/12/2018

–

9.850

Expiration year 2019
Amount (EUR thousand)

EUR

EUR

58,650

39,500

Average contract rate

9.994

9.958

Forward rate as at 31/12/2018

10.275

9.850

Expiration year 2020

EUR

EUR

Amount (EUR thousand)

21,890

–

Average contract rate

10.339

–

Forward rate as at 31/12/2018

10.275

–

Interest rate options
(SEK thousand)

Group
31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Change in value of interest rate options as at 31/12/2018

–

528

Total

–

528

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Outstanding interest rate options
Expiration year 2019
Nominal amount (EUR thousand)

EUR

EUR

–

31,200

Total derivative instruments
(SEK thousand)

Group
31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Change in value as at 31/12/2018

–15,685

–451

Total

–15,685

–451

OX2 uses currency derivatives to hedge against fluctuations in currency exchange rates. A derivative instrument gives an
unrealised value change relating to exchange hedging that is part of the cash flow hedges for the Brännliden, Castles,
Högkölen, Lehtirova, Orrberget, Snow White, Stigshöjden and Valhalla projects. OX2 applies hedge accounting for financial
instruments in accordance with IFRS 9. This means, among other things, that changes in the value of derivatives that are
obtained for hedging of cash flow risks are recognised in equity. The nominal value of outstanding forward exchange contracts
amounts as at end of 31 December 2018 to SEK 812.5 million (837.3). The market value of the outstanding forward exchange
contracts as at 31 December 2018 amounted to SEK –15.7 million (–1.0). The information used for the valuation of derivative
instruments is based on information from the banks that we consider to be in accordance with a Level 2 valuation when it is
based on the discounted cash flows with the help of market data per year-end date. There were no outstanding options as at
31 December 2018. In 2018, OX2 made a release of currency hedges where cash flow had already occurred. The net release for
2018 amounts to SEK 5.1 million.
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Note 24 Advance payments from customers
Group
(SEK thousand)
Advance payments from customers, Lingbo project

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

74,293

147,747

Advance payments from customers, Lehtirova project

–

99,179

Advance payments from customers, Raskiftet project

–

78,824

Advance payments from customers, Tönsen project
Advance payments from customers, Högkölen project
Advance payments from customers, Orrberget project

33,793

67,745

–

33,390

–

24,843

6,452

24,766

–

7,233

Advance payments for Brännliden project

75,332

–

Advance payments for SnowWhite

10,030

–

199,900

483,728

Advance payments from customers, Stigshöjden project
Advance payments for Långmossa project

Total

Note 25 Other current liabilities
Group
Project financing

Parent company

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

–

183,795

–

–

VAT

78,553

65,991

48,945

30,047

Purchase price, acquisition of Åmot-Lingbo

48,693

48,693

–

–

1,850

1,065

1,593

868

371

196

–

–

5

25

3

–

129,472

299,765

50,541

30,915

1)

Withholding tax
Part of the short-term debt financial leasing
Other items
Total

Note 26 Accrued expenses and pre-paid income
Group
(SEK thousand)
Accrued personnel costs, including
social security payments
Accrued project costs
Accrued consulting costs
Accrued construction costs
Accrued operating costs
Other items
Total

Parent company

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

31,727

22,458

27,542

19,803

1,130

26,921

7,570

4,746

4,325

2,676

3,665

1,916

55,792

2,064

–

1,072

–

71

–

–

665

1,530

297

138

93,639

55,720

39,074

27,675
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Note 27 Pledged assets and contingent liabilities
Pledged assets
(SEK thousand)

Group

Parent company

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

Shares in subsidiaries

29,917

25

–

–

Bank deposits

59,782

71,368

–

–

Total

89,699

71,393

–

–

Restricted bank deposits are also reported as cash and cash equivalents in the Balance Sheet.
Contingent liabilities
(SEK thousand)
Indemnity bond1

Group

Parent company

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

743,607

528,572

–

22,149

Parent company guarantee to external suppliers
and buyers2

1,122,532

133,660

227,766

133,660

Total

1,866,139

662,232

227,766

155,809

1)	Peas Industries AB and OX2 Construction AB have signed an indemnity bond in favour of Atradius Credit Insurance NV because Atradius Credit Insurance NV has
issued a performance guarantee to Austri Raskiftet DA on the occasion of the EPC contract dated 5 August 2016 relating to the construction of the Raskiftet
project. Under the indemnity bond, Peas Industries AB and OX2 Construction AB will compensate Atradius Credit Insurance NV in the event that Atradius Credit
Insurance NV is forced to honour its guarantees. The total amount of the guarantees at Group level as at 31/12/2018 amounts to approximately SEK 29.2 million.
	   Peas Industries AB and OX2 Construction AB have signed an indemnity bond in favour of Atradius Credit Insurance NV because Atradius Credit Insurance NV
has issued a payment guarantee to Windfarm Högkölen AB on the occasion of the CATA contract dated 22 November 2016 relating to the construction of the
Högkölen project. Under the indemnity bond, Peas Industries AB and OX2 Construction AB will compensate Atradius Credit Insurance NV in the event that Atradius
Credit Insurance NV is forced to honour its guarantees. The total amount of the guarantees at Group level as at 31/12/2018 amounts to approximately SEK 37.9
million.
	   Peas Industries AB and OX2 Construction AB have signed an indemnity bond in favour of Atradius Credit Insurance NV because Atradius Credit Insurance NV
has issued a payment guarantee to Lehtirova Wind AB on the occasion of the CATA contract dated 11 August 2016 relating to the construction of the Lehtirova
project. Under the indemnity bond, Peas Industries AB and OX2 Construction AB will compensate Atradius Credit Insurance NV in the event that Atradius Credit
Insurance NV is forced to honour its guarantees. The total amount of the guarantees at Group level as at 31/12/2018 amounts to approximately SEK 71.5 million.
	   Peas Industries AB, OX2 Construction AB and OX2 Wind Finland AB have signed an indemnity bond in favour of Atradius Credit Insurance NV in connection with
Atradius Credit Insurance NV having issued a payment guarantee to Ykpihlaja Wind Oy in connection with a share transfer agreement and EPC agreement in
connection with the sale and construction of the Ykpihlaja wind farm, dated 23 February 2017. Under the indemnity bond, Peas Industries AB and OX2 Construction AB and OX2 Wind Finland AB will compensate Atradius Credit Insurance NV in the event that Atradius Credit Insurance NV is forced to honour its guarantees.
The total amount of the guarantees at Group level as at 31/12/2018 amounts to approximately SEK 17.11 million.
	   Peas Industries AB and OX2 Construction AB have signed two indemnity bonds with Atradius Credit Insurance NV in connection with Atradius Credit Insurance
NV having issued two payment guarantees for Ellevio AB and on the occasion of connection of the wind turbines at Tönsen in Bollnäs municipality and the
connection of the wind turbines at Åmot-Lingbo in Ockelbo municipality on 15 December 2017. Under the indemnity bond, Peas Industries AB and OX2 Construction AB will compensate Atradius Credit Insurance NV in the event that Atradius Credit Insurance NV is forced to honour its guarantees. The total amount of the
guarantees at Group level as at 31/12/2018 amounts to approximately SEK 267.9 million.
	   Peas Industries AB, OX2 Construction AB and OX2 Wind Production AB have signed an indemnity bond for Euler Hermes SA in connection with Euler Hermes SA’s
provision of a completion guarantee for Albatros Projects VII S.á.r.l. in connection with a framework agreement, two share transfer agreements and two EPC
agreements in connection with the sale and construction of two wind power plants at Tönsen in Bollnäs municipality and at Åmot-Lingbo in Ockelbo municipality,
dated 15 December 2017. Under the indemnity bond, Peas Industries AB, OX2 Construction AB and OX2 Wind Production AB will compensate Euler Hermes SA in
the event that Euler Hermes SA is forced to fulfil its guarantee. The total amount of the guarantees at Group level as at 31/12/2018 amounts to SEK 312.0 million.
	   Peas Industries AB and OX2 Construction AB have signed two indemnity bonds with Atradius Credit Insurance NV in connection with Atradius Credit Insurance
NV having issued two payment guarantees for WPD construction Sweden AB in connection with the electrical connection of the Brännliden wind turbines on 27
July 2017. Under the indemnity bond, Peas Industries AB and OX2 Construction AB will compensate Atradius Credit Insurance NV in the event that Atradius Credit
Insurance NV is forced to honour its guarantees. The total amount of the guarantees at Group level as at 31/12/2018 amounts to approximately SEK 8 million.
2)	In addition to this, OX2 AB has signed a parent company guarantee as security for OX2 Construction AB’s obligation to counterparties in construction contracts
for ongoing construction projects.

In essence, all guarantees are void after the wind power farms are completed and handed over to the customers, which is
expected to take place between 2019 and 2022.

Note 28 Cash flow statement
Adjustments for items not included in cash flow
(SEK thousand)
Depreciation/impairment
Disposals
Total

Group

Parent company

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

31/12/2018

31/12/2017

499

466

162

164

–

–

35

–

499

466

197

164

Disclosure of interest paid and interest received
Group
During the year the interest paid amounted to KSEK 24 (13) and interest received to KSEK 436 (34).
Parent company
During the year the interest paid amounted to KSEK 3 (1) and interest received to KSEK 0 (2).
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Note 29 Significant events after the end of the reporting period
In February 2019, OX2 concluded an agreement with Ardian Infrastructure concerning the sale of project rights and
construction of the Åndberg 53 wind farm project (250 MW) in Sweden.
In February 2019, the parent company changed its name from OX2 Wind AB to OX2 AB.

Note 30 Proposal for allocation of earnings (SEK)
Proposal for allocation of earnings (SEK)
The following earnings are at the disposal
of the Annual General Meeting:
Unrestricted equity

101,223,155

Net profit for the year

163,573,144

Total

264,796,299

The Board proposes the following sum
be carried forward to new account

264,796,299

Total

264,796,299

Note 31 Approval of financial statements
The annual report was adopted by the Board of Directors and approved for publication on 08 April 2019.

Statement

The Board of Directors hereby certify that the annual report has been prepared in accordance with the Swedish
Annual Accounts Act and RFR 1.3 and 2.3 and gives a true and fair view of the financial position and results, and
that the Directors' Report gives a fair review of the development of the Group's operations, position and results
and describes significant risks and uncertainties facing the company. The Board of Directors hereby certify that
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position and results,
and that the Directors’ Report for the Group annual report gives a fair review of the development of the Group’s
operations, position and results that describe significant risks and uncertainties facing the company.
The annual report and consolidated financial statements have, as outlined above, been approved by the
Board on 08 April 2019. The consolidated Income Statement and Balance Sheet will be subject to adoption by
the Annual General Meeting on 24 April 2019.
Stockholm, 08 April 2019

Johan Ihrfelt
Chairman

Thomas von Otter
Board member

Paul Stormoen		
Chief Executive Officer

Anna-Karin Eliasson Celsing
Board member

Niklas Midby			
Board member

			

Our audit report was submitted on 16 April 2019
Deloitte AB

Jonas Ståhlberg
Authorised Public Accountant
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Auditor’s Report
To the general meeting of the shareholders of OX2 AB
corporate identity number 556675-7497
Report on the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts
Opinions
We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated accounts of OX2 AB for the financial year 201801-01 – 2018-12-31. The annual accounts and consolidated accounts of the company are included on pages
44–75 in this document.
In our opinion, the annual accounts have been
prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act
and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the parent company as of 31 December
2018 and its financial performance and cash flow for
the year then ended in accordance with the Annual
Accounts Act. The consolidated accounts have been
prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act
and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the group as of 31 December 2018 and their
financial performance and cash flow for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the EU, and
the Annual Accounts Act. The statutory administration
report is consistent with the other parts of the annual
accounts and consolidated accounts.
We therefore recommend that the general meeting
of shareholders adopts the income statement and
balance sheet for the parent company and the group.
Basis for Opinions
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We are independent of the parent company and the group in
accordance with professional ethics for accountants in
Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinions.
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Other Information than the annual accounts and
consolidated accounts
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are
responsible for the other information. The other information comprises pages 1–43 and 78–79 but does not
include the annual accounts, consolidated accounts
and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the annual accounts and consolidated accounts does not cover this other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion regarding this other information.
In connection with our audit of the annual
accounts and consolidated accounts, our responsibility is to read the information identified above and
consider whether the information is materially inconsistent with the annual accounts and consolidated
accounts. In this procedure we also take into account
our knowledge otherwise obtained in the audit and
assess whether the information otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.
If we, based on the work performed concerning
this information, conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the
Managing Director
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are
responsible for the preparation of the annual accounts
and consolidated accounts and that they give a fair
presentation in accordance with the Annual Accounts
Act and, concerning the consolidated accounts, in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU. The Board
of Directors and the Managing Director are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of annual
accounts and consolidated accounts that are As and
generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit
of the annual accounts and consolidated accounts is
located at the Swedish Inspectorate of Auditors
website: www.revisorsinspektionen.se/revisornsansvar.
This description forms part of the auditor’s report.
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
Opinions
In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and
consolidated accounts, we have also audited the
administration of the Board of Directors and the
Managing Director of OX2 AB for the financial year
2018-01-01 – 2018-12-31 and the proposed appropriations of the company’s profit or loss.
We recommend to the general meeting of share
holders that the profit to be appropriated in accordance with the proposal in the statutory administration
report and that the members of the Board of Directors
and the Managing Director be discharged from liability
for the financial year.
Basis for Opinions
We conducted the audit in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities section. We are independent of the parent company and the group in
accordance with professional ethics for accountants in
Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinions.
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the
Managing Director
The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal
for appropriations of the company’s profit or loss. At
the proposal of a dividend, this includes an assessment of whether the dividend is justifiable considering
the requirements which the company’s and the
group’s type of operations, size and risks place on the
size of the parent company’s and the group’s equity,
consolidation requirements, liquidity and position in
general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the company’s organization and the administration of the company’s affairs. This includes among other things continuous assessment of the company’s and the group’s
financial situation and ensuring that the company’s
organization is designed so that the accounting,
management of assets and the company’s financial
affairs otherwise are controlled in a reassuring manner.
The Managing Director shall manage the ongoing
administration according to the Board of Directors’
guidelines and instructions and among other matters
take measures that are necessary to fulfill the company’s accounting in accordance with law and handle
the management of assets in a reassuring manner.
Auditor’s responsibility
Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, and thereby our opinion about discharge from
liability, is to obtain audit evidence to assess with a
reasonable degree of assurance whether any member
of the Board of Directors or the Managing Director in
any material respect:
• has undertaken any action or been guilty of any
omission which can give rise to liability to the
company, or
• in any other way has acted in contravention of the
Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the
Articles of Association.
Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss, and
thereby our opinion about this, is to assess with
reasonable degree of assurance whether the proposal
is in accordance with the Companies Act.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always detect actions or omissions that can give rise to liability to the company, or
that the proposed appropriations of the company’s
profit or loss are not in accordance with the Companies Act.
A further description of our responsibilities for the
audit of the management’s administration is located at
the Swedish Inspectorate of Auditors website: www.
revisorsinspektionen.se/revisornsansvar. This description forms part of the auditor’s report.

Stockholm April 09 2019
Deloitte AB

Jonas Ståhlberg
Authorized Public Accountant
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Sjisjka wind farm (78 MW) in Sweden. Photo: Christoffer Rolke

Glossary
Electricity certificate
Tradable certificates that are received on the
production of renewable energy.
Electricity generation capacity
The total amount of electricity that it is possible to
generate from a specific type of power or area.
EPC agreement
Agreement relating to the construction of a turnkey
contract. The abbreviation stands for: Engineering
Procurement and Construction.
Fossil fuel energy
Energy from fossil fuels such as coal, oil and gas.
Renewable energy
Renewable energy sources are sources of energy
which constantly renew themselves and therefore will
not run out in the foreseeable future, such as wind and
water and bioenergy. (Nuclear energy is not regarded
as renewable since it is based on finite resources.)
Nameplate capacity
Output in accordance with the design data. Usually
measured in MW.
PPA agreement
Agreement which a major electricity consumer signs to
purchase electricity from the owner of a wind power
plant. The abbreviation stands for: Power Purchase
Agreement.
Repowering
Reinvestment in existing wind farms, replacing older
turbines with new, modern turbines with more output.

Availability
Availability means the percentage of total time during
which the wind turbine has been available for generating electricity.
Turbine
Wind turbine.
Turbine supplier
Supplier of complete wind turbines.
Emission rights
Emission rights give the holder the right to discharge a
specified amount of carbon dioxide.
Wind power farm or wind farm
Group station consisting of at least 3 turbines.
Wind turbine
Free-standing wind turbine consisting of tower, nacelle
and rotor.
Greenhouse gases
Gases which surround the earth and impede the
outflow of heat. The most important greenhouse gases
are water vapour (H2O), carbon dioxide (CO2), nitrous
oxide (N2O), methane (CH4) and CFC (chlorofluoro
carbons, freons).
Units
Energy is specified in kilowatt hours.
1 MWh = 1,000 kWh
1 GWh = 1,000,000 kWh
1 TWh = 1,000,000,000 kWh
Power is specified in watts
1 MW = 1,000,000 W
1 GW = 1,000,000,000 W
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